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Key Figures

In accordance with German Commercial Code (HGB)

Balance sheet in € billion (extract)	 Jun. 30, 2012	 Jun. 30, 2011	 Dec. 31, 2011

Total assets	 81.6	 74.0	 81.3

Loans and advances to banks	 53.5	 46.1	 51.8

Debt securities and other 
fixed-income securities	 23.0	 25.7	 25.2

Liabilities to banks	 3.2	 3.1	 3.8

Securitized liabilities	 62.6	 59.8	 62.8

Total capital in € million	 3 640.1	 3 016.0	 3 639.0

	 Jan. 1, 2012-	 Jan. 1, 2011-	 Jan. 1, 2011-

Income Statement in € million (extract)	 Jun. 30, 2012	 Jun. 30, 2011	 Dec. 31, 2011

Net interest income	 183.7	*                  201.2	 417.2

Administrative expenses	 22.5	 20.3	 40.5

Operating result before risk provisioning 
and valuation adjustments	 160.5	*                  179.5	 369.8

Interim net income 	 171.7	 147.5	 –

Selected ratios in %	 Jun. 30, 2012	 Jun. 30, 2011	 Dec. 31, 2011

Cost-income ratio	 13.5	*                   11.3	 11.8

Core capital ratio (SolvV)	 21.2	 18.0	 16.7

Total capital ratio (SolvV)	 27.8	 27.2	 25.7

Employees	 247	 242	 240

* Due to a change in presentation not comparable to the previous year‘s figures, see explanation on page 11

In accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

Consolidated balance sheet in € billion (extract)	 Jun. 30, 2012	 Jun. 30, 2011	 Dec. 31, 2011

Total assets	 91.5	 77.3	 88.9

Loans and advances to banks	 53.5	 46.0	 51.4

Financial investments	 23.1	 25.1	 24.7

Liabilities to banks	 2.6	 2.6	 3.1

Securitized liabilities	 69.2	 60.4	 68.2

Total equity	 2.2	 2.3	 1.7

Consolidated statement of comprehensive	 Jan. 1, 2012-	 Jan. 1, 2011-	 Jan. 1, 2011-

income in € million (extract)	 Jun. 30, 2012	 Jun. 30, 2011	 Dec. 31, 2011

Net interest income before provision for loan losses/
promotional contribution	 189.7	 174.6	 361.9

Provision for loan losses/promotional contribution	 13.0	 8.7	 15.6

Administrative expenses	 24.2	 23.4	 48.0

Operating result before profit and loss from fair value 
measurement and hedge accounting	 156.8	 144.0	 283.1

Result from fair value measurement 
and from hedge accounting	 33.9	 9.2	 –352.4

Changes in the revaluation reserve	 277.7	 25.2	 –359.8

Group‘s total comprehensive income	 468.4	 178.4	 –429.1

Rating		  Long-term	 Short-term
		  Rating: 	 Rating:

Moody’s Investors Service		  Aaa	 P - 1

Standard & Poor’s		  AAA	 A - 1 +

Fitch Ratings		  AAA	 F 1 +
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Brief Presentation: 
Landwirtschaftliche Rentenbank 

The agricultural and food sector as well as rural areas in general are faced 
with constant structural change that entails special financing needs and 
places high requirements on liquidity and risk management.

As a promotional bank for the agricultural sector, Landwirtschaftliche  
Rentenbank provides loans at reduced rates of interest for a variety of agri-
culture-related investments including renewable energies. Our range of pro-
ducts is geared towards production enterprises in the agricultural, forestry, 
viticulture, and horticulture sectors, manufacturers of agricultural produc-
tion equipment, and trade and service companies close to agriculture. We 
also provide loans for projects in the food industry and other upstream and 
downstream companies. Additionally, we promote investments by munici-
palities and other public bodies in rural areas as well as private engagement 
for rural development. We extend our loans via other banks complying with 
our competition neutrality. 

The funds for the refinancing of promotional lending are raised through the 
issuance of securities or borrowings on domestic and international capital 
and interbank markets. Rentenbank’s long-term obligations are rated with 
the highest marks AAA/Aaa. 

Rentenbank was established by statute in 1949 as the central refinancing 
institution for the agricultural and food industry, with its registered office in 
Frankfurt/Main. Rentenbank is a federal institution under public law direct-
ly accountable to the German federal government operating under a legal 
promotional mandate. The bank benefits from the institutional liability of 
the Federal Republic of Germany (Anstaltslast) and is supervised by the 
Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin). Rentenbank is a member of 
the Association of German Public Sector Banks (Bundesverband Öffentlicher 
Banken Deutschlands e.V.), Berlin.

The basis of the bank‘s capital was formed by contributions raised from the 
German agricultural and forestry sector between 1949 and 1958. Accordingly, 
any unappropriated profits are used for the benefit of the agricultural sector 
and rural development through a variety of promotional activities.
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Business operations in the first half of 2012

Promotional business for the agricultural sector grows

Special promotional loans again above high prior-year level

The generally positive economic environment resulted in a favorable invest-
ment climate in the agricultural sector in the first half of 2012. Capital expen-
ditures by farmers were fueled by historically low interest rates and favor
able conditions on the major agricultural markets. However, investments in 
renewable energies declined. The demand within this promotional segment 
was reduced by new parameters of the amended German Renewable Energy 
Sources Act (Erneuerbare-Energien-Gesetz (EEG)) and saturation tendencies 
in the market. In addition, the severe winter weather led to winterkilling 
damages in arable farming. The business sentiment in the agricultural sector 
deteriorated somewhat towards the end of the first half year. Nevertheless, 
the agricultural businesses surveyed intend to keep capital expenditures for 
food production at the prior-year level during the second half year. For invest-
ment activities in renewable energies a further decline looms ahead.

Our promotional strategy focuses on loans granted at particularly low inter
est rates originating from programs „Agriculture,“ „Aquaculture and Fish 
Farming,“ „Agribusiness,“ „Renewable Energies,“ and „Rural Development.“ 
The demand for our promotional loans exceeded the already high previous 
year‘s figure. By the end of June, we granted new special promotional loans 
of € 2 910.3 million in total (first half of 2011: € 2 857.2 million) (incl. the 
Special Purpose Fund), up 1.9% on the first six months of the previous year. 
This growth resulted primarily from the dynamic promotional lending 
business in the area of agriculture and agribusiness.

Promotional loans for investments within the agricultural sector 
rise by almost 40 %

The promotional loans for investments of agricultural businesses in food 
production are the core of our promotional business. In the first half of  
2012, we granted loans in the amount of € 1 104.4 million (€ 789.3 million), 
up almost 40 % on the prior year. The above-average growth in this segment 
increased its share of the volume of new promotional loans granted by ap-
prox. ten percentage points to around 38 %. The focus was on financings of 
farm buildings. New promotional loans granted in this area came to a total 
of € 621.5 million, representing an increase of around 35 % over the previous 
year‘s figure (€ 459.1 million).

New business for special promotional loans in the first half-year  

€ million	 2012	 2011

Agriculture	 1 104.4	 789.3

Aquaculture and Fish Farming	 4.1	 1.5

Renewable Energies	 852.6	 1 116.9

Agribusiness 	 238.2	 146.7

Rural Development	 624.7	 687.5

	 thereof: Federal state promotional banks 
	 (municipal business)	 527.5	 625.8

Federal state promotional banks 
(special promotional loans)	 81.2	 110.8

Special Purpose Fund	 5.1	 4.5

Total  	 2 910.3	 2 857.2

New business for special 
promotional loans in 
the first half-year 2012

	Agriculture 37.9 %

	Renewable 
	 energies 29.3 %

	Rural 
	 development 21.5 %

	Other 11.3 %
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Financings of dairy cattle buildings show particularly strong momentum

Financings for cattle and dairy cattle buildings exhibited above-average 
growth. Promotional loans in the amount of € 231.3 million (€ 140.9 million) 
were granted by Rentenbank for this purpose. This development shows that 
currently many dairy cattle farmers are preparing themselves for the time 
after the abolishment of the dairy produce quota in 2015. However, demand 
for financings of pigsties also rose. While loans granted in the first half of 
2011 amounted to € 113.9 million, the financing volume in the reporting 
period was € 144.7 million. Loans granted for poultry houses came to € 64.1 
million, almost unchanged from the previous year (€ 64.9 million).

Apart from the financings of buildings, promotional activities for land and 
machinery purchases also developed positively. Loans granted for land 
purchases amounted to € 207.7 million (€ 158.4 million), while the financing 
volume for machinery purchases was € 203.7 million (€ 111.1 million).

Less demand for liquidity assistance

In addition to our promotional loans for agriculture-related investments, we 
also offer liquidity assistance loans at low interest rates in special situations. 
In March 2012, we opened up the program for arable farms suffering from 
winterkilling damages at the beginning of the year. The total amount  
of drawdowns from the liquidity assistance program was € 18.7 million  
(€ 20.2 million). Of that amount, € 14.7 million (€ 0.5 million) were attribut
able to plant cultivation businesses and € 3.9 million (€ 19.7 million) to 
livestock farming. This includes liquidity assistance programs with added 
interest subsidies from the State of Bavaria and the State of Rhineland- 
Palatinate, launched in cooperation with both states.

Agribusiness and food industry rises significantly

The demand from the agribusiness sector involved in agriculture-related 
upstream or downstream activities rose in the first six months of the fiscal 
year. In total, we granted loans in the amount of € 238.2 million, representing 
an increase of approx. 62 % over the prior-year period. Machinery financings 
accounted for € 159.0 million (€ 77.7 million), followed by financings of 
buildings in the amount of € 55.0 million (€ 43.3 million) and working capital 
financings of € 17.9 million (€ 18.7 million).

Promotional financings for photovoltaics double

The investment activities of farmers in the area of renewable energies were 
quite mixed in the first half. While the demand for financings for photo
voltaic installations doubled to € 556.7 million (€ 277.3 million), loan com-
mitments for biogas plants declined to € 217.5 million (€ 626.7 million). This 
decrease of 65 % is largely attributable to new parameters introduced by the 
German Renewable Energy Sources Act. In addition, it remains to be seen 
how the class of 75 kW plants - newly introduced into the Renewable  
Energy Sources Act - will perform in practice. The demand for financings  
for windturbine installations also decreased to a volume of € 59.2 million  
(€ 200.9 million). However, we expect demand to be stimulated by repower
ing of existing installations as well as new wind farms in Southern Germany. 
In this context, we offer a new promotional lending program that is geared 
towards so-called “Citizens and Farmers Wind Parks”. Local citizens and 
farmers cooperate to this end, thus achieving an increasing acceptance of 
these projects, whose value added stays in the rural areas.

New promotional 
loans in „Renewable 
energies“ in the first 
half-year
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New business with standard promotional loans increases

In addition to our special promotional loans, we also provide standard promo- 
tional loans for the agricultural sector and rural areas. In this area of promo
tional business, we extended new loans in the amount of € 1 539.7 million by 
the end of June, which is a substantial increase compared to the previous year 
(€ 1 125.5 million). In contrast, new business in securitized lending fell to  
€ 1 715.8 million (€ 2 860.4 million). Total new promotional business amount
ed to € 6.2 billion (€ 6.8 billion).

Special promotional loans share increases

As a result of the brisk new business in the first half of 2012, the stock of spe-
cial promotional loans reported in the balance sheet in the first half of 2012 
increased to € 28.1 billion, up 4.9 % on the figure of € 26.8 billion as of year-end 
2011. Total promotional lending volume on the balance sheet as of June 30, 
2012 amounted to € 66.6 billion (€ 66.7 billion). Special promotional loans 
therefore accounted for 42.2 % (40.2 %) of the total promotional lending  
volume.
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New issues: 
Euro most important currency

In the first half of 2012, € 6.3 billion (first half of 2011: € 7.5 billion) have been 
raised already, equal to almost two thirds of the planned total funding re
quirements for medium and long-term maturities for 2012, estimated at  
€ 10 billion. Funds generated through the Euro Medium Term Note (EMTN) 
program grew considerably. With a volume of € 5.6 billion (€ 4.2 billion), 
EMTN issues continued to be the most important refinancing instruments. 
However, bonds issued under our Australian „Kangaroo“ program were 
below the prior-year figure, contributing € 0.7 billion (€ 1.4 billion) to the 
total amount of funds raised. During the reporting period, we did not to 
date use either global bonds, which are registered with the U.S. Securities 
and Exchange Commission (SEC), or domestic capital market instruments.

Medium and long-term issue volume (more than 2 years)

	                 € billion	        Share in %

	 June 30,	 June 30,	 June 30,	 June 30,

	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011

EMTN	 5.6	 4.2	 88.9	 55.9

Global bonds	 0.0	 1.8	 0.0	 24.2

AUD-MTN	 0.7	 1.4	 11.1	 18.8

Domestic capital market instruments	 0.0	 0.1	 0.0	 1.1

Total	 6.3	 7.5	 100.0	 100.0

We place our issues primarily with foreign investors who accounted for a 
share of 65 % in the first half of 2012 (83 %). With 63.6 % (26.4 %), the euro 
was the most important issuing currency followed by the Australian dollar 
with 11.8 % (19.4 %). The share of the U.S. dollar fell to 7.9 % (42.1 %) since  
we have not yet issued benchmarks to date denominated in U.S. dollar.  
The share of our issuance volume denominated in foreign currencies totaled 
36.4 % (73.6 %). Banks remained the most important investor group, account
ing for a share of 59.9 % (53.5 %). In the first six months, the share of issues 
placed with central banks amounted to 17.1 % (26.2 %). 

For short-term liquidity sourcing, we use the Euro Commercial Paper (ECP) 
program. The outstanding volume of the ECP program stood at € 5.1 billion 
as of June 30, 2012, equivalent to previous year’s figure.

Medium and 
long-term issues: 
Breakdown by 
currencies in the 
first half-year 2012

 EUR 63.6 %

 USD 7.9 %

 AUD 11.8 %

 Other 16.7 %
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Balance sheet

Unless another reporting date is indicated with the comments, all compara
tive figures on the balance sheet for the first half of 2012 refer to the balance 
sheet as of December 31, 2011. These figures are given in parenthesis.

As of June 30, 2012, total assets amounted to € 81.6 billion (€ 81.3 billion), an 
increase of 0.4 % compared to the amount reported at the end of 2011. 

In accordance with the provisions of the Rentenbank Law and Statutes, we 
in general, extend loans via other banks. The asset side of the balance sheet 
therefore primarily comprises loans and advances to banks. This line item 
amounted to € 53.5 billion (€ 51.8 billion), and represents 65.6 % of total 
assets. The securities portfolio, which almost exclusively comprises bonds 
and notes of European banks, declined by € 2.2 billion to € 23.0 billion  
(€ 25.2 billion).

On the liability side of the balance sheet, securitized liabilities were the 
largest single line item, representing 76.7 % of the balance sheet volume.  
In the first half of 2012, this item declined by € 0.2 billion to € 62.6 billion  
(€ 62.8 billion). 

The equity in the amount of € 1 154.2 million (€ 994.8 million) as reported in 
the balance sheet includes the capital stock of € 135.0 million (€ 135.0 million), 
the retained earnings of € 847.5 million (€ 847.5 million) and the interim net 
income of € 171.7 million (net profit of € 12.3 million).

Total capital slightly increased by € 1 million to € 3 640 million due to 
exchange rate effects from foreign currency denominated subordinated 
liabilities. As of June 30, 2012, total capital can be broken down as follows:

	 June 30, 	 Dec. 31, 

	 2012	 2011

	 € million	 € million

Capital stock	 135	 135

Retained earnings	 848	 848

Fund covering general banking risks	 1 928	 1 928

Subordinated liabilities	 729	 728

Total capital	 3 640	 3 639

Separate financial statements (HGB) for 
the six month period ended June 30, 2012
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The total capital ratio was 27.8 % (25.7 %), while the core capital ratio  
amounted to 21.2 % (16.7 %). Both ratios were calculated in accordance  
with the German Solvency Regulation (Solvabilitätsverordnung). 

Balance sheet summary (HGB)

	 June 30, 	 Dec. 31, 

	 2012	 2011

Essential asset positions	 € million	 € million

Loans and advances to banks	 53 500	 51 750

Loans and advances to customers	 4 182	 2 985

Debt securities and other fixed-income securities	 23 036	 25 183

Other assets	 862	 1 369

Total assets	 81 580	 81 287

Essential liability positions

Liabilities to banks	 3 229	 3 806

Liabilities to customers	 5 541	 6 032

Securitized liabilities	 62 598	 62 821

Subordinated liabilities	 729	 728

Fund covering general banking risks	 1 928	 1 928

Equity	 1 154	 995

Other liabilities	 6 401	 4 977

Total equity and liabilities	 81 580	 81 287
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Income statement

All comparative figures included in the comments on the income statement 
for the first half of 2012 refer to the first half of 2011 and are given in paren-
thesis. 

As of June 30, 2012, there was a change in presentation: The expense for the 
interest subsidy related to the special promotional loans in the amount of  
€ 36.5 million (€ 34.0 million) was reclassified from risk provisioning and 
valuation adjustments to interest expense. Therefore, both items can only be 
compared with the previous year‘s figures on a reconciled basis. However, 
interim net income was not affected.

Rentenbank’s financial performance in the first half of 2012 was satisfactory. 
Interest income, including current income from shares and other non-fixed-
income securities and equity investments, reached € 1 432.4 million (€ 1 357.8 
million). After deducting interest expenses, net interest income amounted to  
€ 183.7 million, or € 220.2 million respectively, before the change in presen
tation (€ 201.2 million). 

Compared to the first six months of 2011, general administrative expenses 
including depreciation and write downs on tangible assets increased by  
€ 2.2 million to € 22.5 million (€ 20.3 million). Personnel expenses increased 
by € 1.3 million to € 13.6 million. This rise is largely attributable to the higher 
number of employees and increased contributions to pension provisions as 
well as due to expenses for early retirement. The increase of other adminis
trative expenses by € 0.9 million to € 8.9 million mainly results from higher 
license fees as well as from expenses in the context of the introduction of 
new IT systems. 

The cost-income ratio rose to 13.5 % as a result of the change in presentation 
described above. Before the change in presentation, the cost-income-ratio 
would have been on the prior-year level at 11.3 %.

The operating result before risk provisioning and valuation adjustments 
amounted to € 160.5 million or € 197.0 million before the change in presen
tation (€ 179.5 million).

Amortization and write-downs of loans and advances and securities take 
into account all identified risks. No specific allowances for impairment 
losses were necessary in the first half of 2012. 
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Income statement summary (HGB)

	 Jan. 1 – June 30,	 Jan. 1 – June 30,  

	 2012	 2011

	 € million	 € million

Interest income	 1 432.1*	 1 357.6

Current income	 0.3*	 0.2

Interest expense	 1 248.7*	 1 156.6

Net interest income	 183.7*	 201.2

Net fee and commission income	 –0.9*	 –0.8

General administrative expenses	 21.7*	 19.5

Depreciation, amortization and write-downs 
of intangible and tangible fixed assets	 0.8*	 0.8

Net other operating result	 0.2*	 –0.6

Operating result before risk provisioning 
and valuation adjustments	 160.5*	 179.5

Income from/expenses for specific securities 
and loans and advances	 11.2*	 –32.0

Taxes on income	 0.0*	 0.0

Interim net income	 171.7*	 147.5

* �As a result of the change in presentation as of June 30, 2012, interest expenses include, for the 
first time, the expense for the interest subsidy related to the special promotional loans in the 
amount of € 36.5 million. In 2011, the interest subsidy for special promotional loans (€ 34.0 
million) was not reported as interest expense, but was included in income from and expenses 
for specific securities and loans and advances within the scope of risk provisioning and valua-
tion adjustments. The consequence of this is that net interest income and the operating result 
before risk provisioning and valuation adjustments are not comparable with the previous 
year‘s figures.
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launched, which was utilized by the banking system  
at the end of February with an amount of approx.  
€ 530 billion.

The yields on safe haven investments such as German 
government bonds plunged to new record lows du-
ring the first half. The risk aversion of many investors 
was heightened particularly by the discussions around 
a potential exit of Greece from the European Monetary 
Union and doubts as to whether a European fiscal com- 
pact will materialize. Accordingly, at the beginning of 
June, the yield for ten-year German government bonds 
briefly fell to a then all-time low of 1.18 %. Yields for 
money market instruments of the German federal 
government were even negative at times.

The European financial and sovereign debt crisis esca-
lated again towards the end of the first half year, with 
Spain and Italy being particularly affected. Therefore, 
the leaders of the eurozone countries agreed at an EU 
summit end of June to expand the scope of measures 
of the permanent rescue funding program (European 
Stability Mechanism, ESM). In future, crisis-ridden 
countries and banks may obtain direct loans from the 
ESM. In addition, a system will be established where 
the ECB has a vital role in the centralized supervision 
of the European banking sector.

In the German agricultural sector, stable conditions  
in many important product markets led to a sustained 
positive economic sentiment in the first half of 2012. 
However, the situation was dampened by the high 
prices for operating resources. Moreover, a large num-
ber of agricultural businesses in the plant cultivation 
sector suffered from winterkilling damages. Never-
theless, the willingness to invest in food production 
remained on the high prior-year level according to  
the economic sentiment for the agricultural sector.  
In contrast, the demand for financings in other areas 
weakened, especially for biogas plants.

Economic environment

The first half of 2012 was characterized by the continu-
ing financial and sovereign debt crisis in Europe, the 
consequences of which increasingly affected the real 
economy. Fiscal tightening by governments, and fears 
of the break-up of the European Monetary Union held 
back consumer spending and investment activities, 
and led to a corrective recession in many eurozone 
countries. Against this backdrop, the average unem
ployment rate in the eurozone reached a new record 
level of 11.2 %. 

The German economic growth also decelerated, but 
still remains positive and significantly above the euro-
zone average. Early this year, Germany benefited from 
the persistently high level of exports, particularly into 
emerging markets. The positive development on the 
labor market as well as increasing personal income 
also strengthened domestic demand. The loss of con
fidence triggered by the debt crisis, however, impact- 
ed the European export business of German com
panies. 

The inflationary pressure within the eurozone initially 
increased slightly in the first quarter. However, to-
wards the end of the first half year, consumer prices 
fell as a result of the declining energy prices. The CPI-
inflation rate fell from 2.7 % in March to 2.4 % in June.

Against the backdrop of the weak economic develop-
ment within the eurozone and the continuing uncer-
tainty in the financial sector, the European Central 
Bank (ECB) did not change its interest rate policy and 
initially kept its key rate at 1.0 % during the first half 
of 2012. However, the ECB cut its key rate in early July 
to 0.75 %. In light of the weakness persisting in parts  
of the European financial industry, the ECB extended 
its special monetary policy measures to stabilize the 
banking system. For example, the collateral frame-
work for the banks‘ refinancing transactions with the 
ECB was extended and a second three-year tender was 
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Total assets increased by € 2.6 billion or 2.9 % to  
€ 91.5 billion as of June 30, 2012, up from € 88.9 billion 
as of December 31, 2011. Total assets of the consoli

dated subsidiaries in accordance with HGB as of  
June 30, 2012, are as follows:

Balance sheet (extract) 	 Jun. 30, 2012	 Dec. 31, 2011	 Change in

	 € billion	 € billion	 € billion

Total assets	 91.5	 88.9	 2.6

			 

Loans and advances to banks	 53.5	 51.4	 2.1

Loans and advances to customers	 4.2	 2.9	 1.3

Positive fair values of derivative financial instruments	 8.9	 7.8	 1.1

Financial investments	 23.1	 24.7	 -1.6

Liabilities to banks	 2.6	 3.1	 -0.5

Liabilities to customers	 5.9	 6.1	 -0.2

Securitized liabilities	 69.2	 68.2	 1.0

Negative fair values of derivative financial instruments	 4.8	 4.3	 0.5

Provisions	 0.1	 0.1	 0.0

Subsidiary 	 Jun. 30, 2012	 Dec. 31, 2011	 Change in

	 € million	 € million	 € million

LR Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Frankfurt am Main	 221.2	 219.9	 1.3

DSV Silo- und Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH,  

Frankfurt am Main	 14.9	 15	 –0.1

Business performance

A key feature of Rentenbank‘s performance in the first 
half of 2012 was a sustained buoyant demand for 
promotional loans. New business with low-interest 
special promotional loans exceeded that of the first 
half 2011 by almost 2 %. The promotional loans were 
used primarily for classic agricultural investments. In 
contrast, investments made by farmers in renewable 
energies declined. As international investors continu-
ed to prefer safe haven investments, Rentenbank again 
raised funds at favorable conditions. Almost two 
thirds of medium-term and long-term funding re

quirements for 2012 which are expected to reach € 10 
billion have already been covered by June 30.

Total assets and business volume

Unless another reporting date is indicated, the com-
ments on the balance sheet as of June 30, 2012 compare 
with the figures in the consolidated balance sheet as of 
December 31, 2011, the comparative figures being 
shown in parenthesis.
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Complying with its competition neutrality, the Group 
generally extends its loans via other banks. This is 
reflected on the asset side of the balance sheet by the 
loans and advances to banks with a share of total assets 
of 58.5 % (compared with 57.8 % in 2011). As of June 
30, 2012, the carrying amount of this item was € 53.5 
billion (compared with € 51.4 billion in 2011). The in-
crease by € 2.1 billion resulted primarily from the signi
ficant rise in the volume of special promotional loans.

Loans and advances to customers increased by € 1.3 
billion to € 4.2 billion (compared with € 2.9 billion in 
2011) resulting from new business with German states.

Financial investments, which consist almost exclusively 
of bank bonds and notes, declined by € 1.6 billion to  
€ 23.1 billion (compared with € 24.7 billion in 2011) as 
maturities exceeded new business. The Group is not 
exposed to securities or receivables with structured 
credit risks such as asset-backed securities, or colla
teralized debt obligations. Information related to the 
exposure in peripheral states is set out in the Risk 
Report in the section „Credit Risk.“

Liabilities to banks decreased by € 0.5 billion to € 2.6 
billion (compared with € 3.1 billion in 2011), primarily 
as a result of the reduction of position in the short-
term money market funding.

Liabilities to customers remained nearly unchanged  
at € 5.9 billion (compared with € 6.1 billion in 2011). 
This balance sheet item primarily comprises registered 
bonds and promissory note loans with a carrying 
amount of € 5.7 billion as of June 30, 2012 (compared 
with € 5.6 billion in 2011).

The balance sheet item of securitized liabilities amoun-
ted to € 69.2 billion as of June 30, 2012 (compared with 
€ 68.2 billion in 2011), representing a rise of € 1.0 billion 
or 1.5 %. This increase is largely attributable to currency 
effects. The Medium Term Note (MTN) programs 
remain the most important funding source and 
amounted to € 50.0 billion (compared with € 47.3 bil
lion in 2011). The carrying amount of the global bonds 
amounted to € 13.9 billion as of the end of the first half 
of 2012 (compared with € 13.5 billion in 2011). The 
ECP program for money market funding was utilized 
to a lesser extent, with the outstanding amount de
clining by € 2.2 billion to € 5.2 billion (compared with 
€ 7.4 billion in 2011).

The positive fair values of derivative financial instru-
ments increased by € 1.1 billion to € 8.9 billion (com
pared with € 7.8 billion in 2011), while negative fair 
values rose by € 0.5 billion to € 4.8 billion (compared 
with € 4.3 billion in 2011). The main reason for the 
changes in fair values was the decrease in euro ex-
change rates. Derivatives are exclusively entered into 
in order to hedge existing or expected market price 
risks. Rentenbank does not enter into credit default 
swaps (CDS).

Provisions remained almost unchanged and amounted 
to € 103.2 million (compared with €104.2 million in 
2011). Additions to pension provisions amounted to  
€ 3.3 million, and the amount of provisions utilized for 
current pension benefit payments was € 2.8 million. 
The present value of the defined benefit obligations 
was determined on the basis of a discount rate of 
4.8 %.

Financial performance

All comparative figures included in the comments on 
the financial performance as reported in the half-yearly 

financial report for 2012 refer to the first half of 2011 
and are shown in parenthesis.

 	 Jun. 30, 2012	 Jun. 30, 2011	 Change in

1) Income Statement 	 € million	 € million	 € million

Net interest income before provision for loan losses/ 
promotional contribution	 189.7	 174.6	 15.1

Provision for loan losses/promotional contribution	 13.0	 8.7	 4.3

Administrative expenses	 24.2	 23.4	 0.8

Net other income/expense	 4.3	 1.5	 2.8

Operating result	 156.8	 144.0	 12.8

			 

Result from fair value measurement  
and from hedge accounting	 33.9	 9.2	 24.7

Group‘s interim net income	 190.7	 153.2	 37.5

			 

2) Other comprehensive income			 

Change in the revaluation reserve	 277.7	 25.2	 252.5

			 

3) Group’s total comprehensive income	 468.4	 178.4	 290.0
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Measurement gains or losses are only of a temporary 
nature due to the buy and hold strategy of the Group 
following from its status as a non-trading book insti
tution, provided that no counterparty default occurs. 
These are reversed in subsequent years, latest until the 
relevant transactions fall due. 

Group’s interim net income

The rise of the operating result by € 12.8 million to 
€ 156.8 million (compared with € 144.0 million in 2011) 
and the increase of the result from fair value measure-
ment and from hedge accounting by € 24.7 million to 
€ 33.9 million (compared with € 9.2 million in 2011)  
led to a Group’s interim net income in the amount of 
€ 190.7 million (compared with € 153.2 million in 
2011).

Other comprehensive income

The other comprehensive income shows changes in 
the revaluation reserve. It primarily includes fair value 
changes attributable to changes in credit spreads relat
ed to available-for-sale securities. The changes in the 
fair value of these securities attributable to fluctuations 
of the deposit/swap curve are reported in the result 
from fair value measurement and from hedge account
ing. In addition, the other comprehensive income in-
cludes the amortization of measurement results from 
securities that were reclassified in 2008 to the held-to-
maturity category at the then applicable market value.

The overall decline of risk premiums attributable to 
credit spread changes resulted in higher market values 
of the securities. This led to measurement gains of 
€ 270.9 million (compared with a measurement loss of 
€ 2.0 million in 2011) recognized in the revaluation re-
serve. Taking into account the amortization from secu-
rities reclassified in 2008 in the amount of € 6.8 million 
(compared with € 27.2 million in 2011), the revaluation 
reserve increased by a total of € 277.7 million as of 
June 30, 2012 (compared with € 25.2 million in 2011).

Group’s total comprehensive income

The Group‘s total comprehensive income as of June 
30, 2012 amounted to € 468.4 million (compared with 
€ 178.4 million in 2011), representing an increase of 
€ 290.0 million. Apart from the increase of the operat
ing result, the increase is primarily attributable to the 
rise of the measurement result by € 277.2 million, 
which consists of the changes in the revaluation reserve 
as well as the result from fair value measurement and 
from hedge accounting.

Operating result

Operating earnings have developed very positively in 
the current fiscal year. Interest income, including con-
tributions from fixed-income securities and equity in-
vestments, reached € 1 988.5 million (compared with 
€ 1 906.6 million in 2011). After deducting interest 
expenses of € 1 798.8 million (compared with € 1 732.0 
million in 2011), net interest income amounted to 
€ 189.7 million (compared with € 174.6 million in 2011). 
The increase of € 15.1 million was above all due to the 
improved margins in the promotional lending business 
and an increased average volume accompanied by 
slightly declining margins in the „Treasury Manage-
ment“ segment. Accordingly, the operating result im-
proved by € 12.8 million to € 156.8 million (compared 
with € 144.0 million in 2011).

Result from fair value measurement  
and from hedge accounting

All derivatives and certain balance sheet items are 
measured at fair value. Changes in the fair value are 
recorded as unrealized gains or losses in the result 
from fair value measurement and from hedge account
ing. 

In the context of hedged items as part of hedging rela-
tionships, only those fair value changes are taken into 
account where these changes result from changes in 
the deposit/swap curve (benchmark curves for the 
interbank business). All market parameters such as the 
credit spread are taken into account in the measure-
ment of the remaining balance sheet items recognized 
at fair value.

The development of the result from fair value mea
surement and from hedge accounting is influenced 
almost exclusively by changes of risk premiums based 
on changes of credit spreads. Changes in interest rates 
and exchange rates do not have significant measure-
ment effects due to refinancing with matching maturi-
ties as well as hedging through derivatives.

Despite the sustained debt crisis in Europe, the risk 
premiums attributable to credit spreads decreased on 
a broad basis during the first half of 2012, partially 
also for issuers from countries particularly affected by 
the crisis. On the one hand, this led to measurement 
losses from the upward revaluation of our own issues. 
On the other hand, there were measurement gains 
from the upward revaluation of assets, which over-
compensated measurement losses from our own issues. 

Overall, net measurement gains rose from € 9.2 million 
in the prior year to € 33.9 million as of June 30, 2012.
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Equity

Equity as reported on the balance sheet was € 2 161.8 million (compared with € 1 705.7 million in 2011)  
and can be broken down as follows.

Financial reporting process

The financial reporting process comprises all activities 
from account allocation and processing of transactions 
to preparation of the required single-entity and con
solidated financial statements in the form of interim  
or annual financial statements.

The objective of the accounting-related internal control 
system (ICS)/risk management system (RMS) is to 
ensure compliance with financial reporting standards 
and regulations as well as adherence of financial 
reporting to generally accepted accounting principles.

The additional ICS-relevant disclosures related to 
organizational structures and workflows, accounting 
principles as well as the management information 
system have not changed. We, therefore, refer to the 
associated explanations in the group management 
report for the fiscal year 2011.

The Group‘s interim net income of € 190.7 million, 
which is characterized by the operating result, 
strengthens equity. The additional increase resulted 
from measurement gains reported in the revaluation 
reserve to an amount of € 277.7 million.

Subordinated liabilities - mainly denominated in 
foreign currency - increased by € 11.3 million to € 923.7 
million (compared with € 912.4 million in 2011) due to 
mark-to-market valuations. All subordinated liabilities 
fulfill the requirements of Section 10 (5a) of the German 
Banking Act (Kreditwesengesetz, KWG) and preclude 
early repayment or conversion.

The Group‘s total regulatory capital as of June 30, 
2012, climbed to € 3 824.7 million (compared with 
€ 3 533.2 million in 2011). The total capital ratio, cal
culated pursuant to Section 10 of the German Banking 
Act based on the German Solvency Regulation (Sol
vabilitätsverordnung, SolvV), amounted to 28.5 % on 
the reporting date (compared with 26.4 % in 2011),  
and thus exceeded the legal minimum requirements  
to a considerable extent.

 	 Jun. 30, 2012	 Dec. 31, 2011	 Change in

 	 € million	 € million	 € million

Subscribed capital	  135.0	  135.0	  0.0

Retained earnings	 2 321.8	 2 321.8	  0.0

Revaluation reserve	 –485.7	 –763.4	  277.7

Group‘s interim net income (Jun. 30) / 
Group‘s net profit (Dec. 31)	  190.7	  12.3	  178.4

Total equity	 2 161.8	 1 705.7	  456.1
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Risk Report

The comments in the risk report as of June 30, 2012, 
compare the current figures with those as of December 
31, 2011. The figures for the end of fiscal year 2011 are 
given in parenthesis. If comparisons are made to a 
prior-year period, then the period from January 1, 2011 
to December 31, 2011 applies. 

General principles

All material risks are concentrated in Rentenbank and 
are managed on a Group-wide basis. The business 
activities of subsidiaries are very limited. Rentenbank 
has issued a letter of comfort to LR Beteiligungsgesell-
schaft mbH. Subsidiaries are funded exclusively 
within the Group.

As a promotional bank for the agricultural sector and 
rural areas, Rentenbank provides funds for a variety 
of investment projects. The range of products is geared 
towards manufacturing businesses in the agricultural 
and forestry sectors, winegrowing and horticulture 
sectors as well as in aquaculture and fish farming. 
Rentenbank also provides funds for projects in the 
food industry and other upstream and downstream 
companies as well as projects for rural development.

The Group’s corporate objective, derived from 
Rentenbank’s legal mandate, is to promote the agricul-
tural sector and rural areas on a sustainable basis. The 
Group’s business activities are directed towards achiev
ing this goal. In this context, it is a prerequisite to en-
sure that the Group is able to fulfill this promotional 
mandate at all times. The Group’s risk structure is 
essentially defined by the Rentenbank Law and its 
Statutes and by the framework established therein.

Risk management  
and risk-bearing capacity

The organization of risk management and the monitor
ing of the limits based upon the bank‘s risk-bearing 
capacity have not changed compared to the procedur
es and processes described in the management report 
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011. We refer 
to the glossary in the Annual Report for the period 
ended December 31, 2011 for definition of terms. The 
following section therefore includes only details of the 
current risk-bearing capacity and its utilization. 

The risk-bearing capacity concept of the Group is 
based on the going concern approach. The observation 
period is one year. The risk cover potential is derived 
from the consolidated financial statements in accor
dance with IFRS.

 

Risk cover potential	 Jun. 30, 2012	 Dec. 31, 2011

		  € million	 € million

Available operating result	  240.0	  240.0

Retained earnings (proportionately)	  116.0	  116.0

Risk cover 1	 356.0	 356.0

Retained earnings (proportionately)	 2 056.1	 2 206.1

Interim net income for the period	  190.7	 –

Own credit risk	  0.0	 –147.4

Revaluation reserve	 –485.7	 –763.5

Hidden liabilities from securities	 –46.1	 –76.4

Risk cover 2	 2 071.0	 1 574.8

Retained earnings (proportionately)	  150.0	  0.0

Subscribed capital	  135.0	  135.0

Subordinated liabilities	  923.6	  912.3

Risk cover 3	 3 279.6	 2 622.1

As of June 30, 2012, risk cover potential 1 amounts to € 356 million, unchanged from the previous year. 
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the limits defined for the individual risk types.  
It is broken down as follows:

The allocation of the risk cover potential to credit, 
market price, and operational risks corresponds to  

Allocated risk cover	 Jun. 30, 2012	 Dec. 31, 2011

	 € million	 %	 € million	 %

Credit risk	 260.0	 73.1	 260.0	 73.1

Market price risk	 61.0	 17.1	 61.0	 17.1

Operational risk	 35.0	 9.8	 35.0	 9.8

Total risk	 356.0	 100.0	 356.0	 100.0

Standard scenario	 Jun. 30, 2012	 Dec. 31, 2011

	 € million	 %	 € million	 %

Credit risk	 59.3	 63.0	 97.1	 67.8

Market price risk	 3.4	 3.6	 15.2	 10.6

Operational risk	 31.5	 33.4	 30.9	 21.6

Total risk	 94.2	 100.0	 143.2	 100.0

Total risk limit	 356.0		  356.0	

Utilization of total risk limit		  26.5		  40.2

Risk cover potential 2 is not allocated to the individual 
risk types. It is an overall limit and amounts to € 2 071 
million as of the reporting date (compared with € 1 575 
million in 2011). The increase of the risk cover poten
tial mainly resulted from the operating profit and the 
unrealized measurement gains reported within the 
revaluation reserve.

In order to fulfill the regulatory capital ratios pursuant 
to the going concern approach, pro-rata retained ear-
nings, subscribed capital and subordinated liabilities 
of risk cover potential 3 are available. The risk cover 
potential is reconciled according to the regulatory 
requirements.

Pursuant to the risk-bearing capacity concept, no 
liquidity risks have been taken into account, since the 

Group has sufficient cash funds, and its triple A 
ratings, amongst other factors, enable it to obtain any 
additionally required funds on the interbank markets 
or, in case of market disruptions, from Eurex Clearing 
AG (securitized money market funding) and from the 
German central bank (Deutsche Bundesbank; through 
collateralized loans or so-called „Pfandkredite“).

The calculation of the potential utilization of the risk 
cover potential is based on the analysis of risk scena
rios (standard and stress scenarios). In this context, 
certain changes according to predefined scenarios  
are applied to the underlying risk factors for credit, 
market price, and operational risks.

Standard scenario

Under the standard scenario, potential market price 
fluctuations, defaults and the occurrence of significant 
operational incidents are assumed. The resultant 
change of the risk exposures is compared with risk 

cover potential 1 in order to determine the risk-bear
ing capacity related to potential losses. The risks are 
monitored on a daily basis.

Due to maturities in the sub investment grade range, 
the risk exposure declined considerably by € 37.8  
million. Market price risks of the overall bank fell  
as a result of the reduction of the open positions in 
money market activities.

Stress scenario

The stress scenario is used to analyze the effects of 
simulated, exceptional changes in parameters. As 
regards credit risk, we assume full utilization of all 
internally granted limits, deteriorations of the credit 
quality of our counterparties, higher country-specific 
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As regards operational risk, we assume an amount of 
incidents that is twice as high under the stress scenario 
as under the standard scenario.

The risk exposures from the individual risk types 
(credit risk, market price risk, and operational risk) are 
aggregated and compared with risk cover potential 2. 
Aggregating individual risks within the market price 
risk, in particular spread risks, correlation effects will 
be taken into account to avoid duplication effects.

probabilities of default as well as higher loss given 
default percentages within the overall loan portfolio 
under the stress scenario.

The stress scenario for market price risks includes a 
non-parallel shift of the yield curves, a widening of 
risk premiums in the interbank market, an increase of 
the costs for the exchange between two interest bases 
in the same currency as well the costs for the exchange 
of payments in various currencies, and an increase in 
counterparty-specific credit spreads.

Risk categories – Individual risks

Definitions, organization, and reporting related to 
individual risks have only changed insignificantly 
compared to the comments included in the consoli
dated financial statements for fiscal year 2011. The 
following section therefore only includes changes in 
risk measurement; otherwise, we refer to the group 
management report 2011.

Credit risk

Current risk situation

In accordance with IFRS 7.B9, the figures for the current 
risk situation relate to the gross carrying amount, which 
corresponds to the carrying amount of the relevant 
balance sheet item in the IFRS consolidated financial 
statements. Loans and advances to banks and to custo-
mers additionally include the corresponding portions 
from the item “fair value changes of hedged items in  
a portfolio hedge” as well as irrevocable loan commit-
ments. Irrevocable loan commitments of € 1 442.8 mil-
lion (compared with € 177.5 million in 2011) were recog
nized at their nominal amounts. Above all, the increase 
resulted from the open master agreements with state 
promotional banks for financings of promotional ac
tivities in rural areas. The major part of this volume is 
expected to be disbursed by the end of the fiscal year.

Stress scenario	 Jun. 30, 2012	 Dec. 31, 2011

	 € million	 %	 € million	 %

Credit risk	  267.0	  38.3	  384.8	  42.1

Market price risk	  5.1	  0.7	  22.2	  2.4

Market price risk (spread risk)	  362.8	  52.0	  445.7	  48.7

Operational risk	  63.1	  9.0	  61.8	  6.8

Total risk	  698.0	  100.0	  914.5	  100.0

Risk cover	 2 071.0		  1 574.8	

Utilization of risk cover 2		  33.7		  58.1

Maturities in the sub-investment grade area led to  
a significant decline of the risk exposure by € 117.8 
million with regard to credit risks. The risk-weighted 
assets are presented in a table and grouped by rating 
categories as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 
in the section on credit risks. The market price risks 
decreased due to lower open positions in money  
market funding.

Going concern approach

After the inclusion of risk exposures under the stress 
scenarios, there must be sufficient risk cover potential 
available under the going concern approach (liable 
capital) in order to comply with the capital ratios cal-
culated pursuant to the German Solvency Regulation. 
The capital ratios under the going concern approach 
amounted to 7.1 % for core capital and 10.6 % for total 
capital. Accordingly, the minimum capital ratios of 
4 % for core capital and 8 % for total capital - as cur-
rently prescribed by the Solvency Regulation - were 
complied with even under the stress scenarios.

Extreme scenarios for credit risks are simulated in 
additional calculations. These scenarios are quantified 
using strict risk measures and parameters based on 
rare loss events. The potential default determined on 
the basis of these extreme scenarios is used to measure 
risk concentrations and does not have to be backed by 
risk cover potential.
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Gross credit volume			   Positive fair values of

		  Loans and advances 	 Loans and advances	 derivative financial

		  to banks	 to customers	 instruments	 Financial investments

		  Jun. 30,	 Dec. 31,	 Jun. 30,	 Dec. 31,	 Jun. 30,	 Dec. 31,	 Jun. 30,	 Dec. 31,

		  2012	 2011	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011

		  € million	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million
Gross credit volume	 55 867.3	 52 317.4	 4 236.4	 2 869.5	 8 933.3	 7 847.6	 23 147.7	 24 737.7

Cash collateral	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 5 847.2	 4 422.7	  0.0	  0.0

Covered bonds  
(Pfandbriefe)	 1 089.2	  771.8	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 8 524.5	 7 858.2

Public-sector  
covered bonds 
(Öffentliche Pfandbriefe)	  362.7	  269.5	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 1 129.8	 1 083.4

State guarantee  
(Gewährträgerhaftung)	 17 612.9	 11 421.0	 4 161.0	 2 797.7	  0.0	  0.0	 6 429.8	 7 517.7

Other collateral	  330.8	  309.3	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 1 866.3	 1 589.5

Collateralized money  
market funding	 1 951.6	 5 927.3	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0

Assignment of claims	 19 542.2	 18 471.7	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0

Net credit volume	 14 977.9	 15 146.8	  75.4	  71.8	 3 086.1	 3 424.9	 5 197.3	 6 688.9

Risk concentration by country

June 30, 2012			   Positive fair values of

		  Loans and advances 	 Loans and advances	 derivative financial

		  to banks	 to customers	 instruments	 Financial investments

		  € million	 %	 € million	 %	 € million	 %	 € million	 %

Banks

	 Germany	 52 460.2	  93.9	  0.0	  0.0	 1 302.1	  14.6	 5 264.1	  22.7

	 Other Europe	 3 407.0	  6.1	  0.0	  0.0	 5 128.2	  57.4	 16 345.0	  70.6

	 OECD countries  
	 (excl. Europe)	  0.1	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 1 208.3	  13.5	  37.0	  0.2

Total banks	 55 867.3	  100.0	  0.0	  0.0	 7 638.6	  85.5	 21 646.1	  93.5

Other  
counterparties								      

	 Germany	  0.0	  0.0	 4 236.4	  100.0	  0.0	  0.0	  616.2	  2.7

	 Other Europe	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 1 193.0	  13.4	  885.4	  3.8

	 OECD countries  
	 (excl. Europe)	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  101.7	  1.1	  0.0	  0.0

Total other 
counterparties	  0.0	  0.0	 4 236.4	  100.0	 1 294.7	  14.5	 1 501.6	  6.5

Total	 55 867.3	  100.0	 4 236.4	  100.0	 8 933.3	  100.0	 23 147.7	  100.0

The net credit volume represents the unsecured porti-
on of the relevant balance sheet item. Other collateral 
largely represent covered bonds and collateralized 
standard promotional loans. The Group received secu-
rities as collateral in connection with the collateralized 
money market lending business. The assignment of 
claims refers to claims of the ultimate borrower from 
the special promotional loan business.

The gross lending volume of € 8 933.3 million (compared 
with € 7 847.6 million in 2011) represents the exposure 
from the positive fair values of derivative financial in-
struments on an individual contract level. In contrast, 
the risk-relevant economic collateralization is made on 
counterparty level. Rentenbank has concluded with all 
counterparties with which it enters into derivative fi-

nancial instruments master agreements with a netting 
effect and collateral agreements based on the former. 
Accordingly the risk of the gross credit volume as 
reported on the balance sheet is reduced by received 
cash collateral in the amount of € 5 847.2 million (com-
pared with € 4 422.7 million in 2011). Significant por-
tions of negative fair values of derivative financial in
struments in the amount of € 4 750.5 million (compared 
with € 4 262.5 million in 2011) further reduce risk. 
Therefore the net credit volume in the amount of 
€ 3 086.1 million (compared with € 3 424.9 million  
in 2011) shown here represents the risk exposure as 
reported on the balance sheet, not the economic risk 
exposure from the derivative transactions.

The following tables present the credit risk exposures 
separately by region, currency, sectors, and internal 
rating categories, without taking credit risk mitigation 
techniques into account.
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December 31, 2011			   Positive fair values of

		  Loans and advances 	 Loans and advances	 derivative financial

		  to banks	 to customers	 instruments	 Financial investments

		  € million	 %	 € million	 %	 € million	 %	 € million	 %

Banks								      

	 Germany	 48 334.0	  92.4	  0.0	  0.0	 1 219.7	  15.6	 6 231.1	  25.2

	 Other Europe	 3 983.3	  7.6	  0.0	  0.0	 4 481.6	  57.1	 17 006.9	  68.7

	 OECD countries  
	 (excl. Europe)	  0.1	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 1 035.1	  13.2	  39.5	  0.2

Total banks	 52 317.4	  100.0	  0.0	  0.0	 6 736.4	  85.9	 23 277.5	  94.1

Other  
counterparties								      

	 Germany	  0.0	  0.0	 2 869.5	  100.0	  0.0	  0.0	  614.2	  2.5

	 Other Europe	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 1 007.3	  12.8	  846.0	  3.4

	 OECD countries  
	 (excl. Europe)	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  103.9	  1.3	  0.0	  0.0

Total other 
counterparties	  0.0	  0.0	 2 869.5	  100.0	 1 111.2	  14.1	 1 460.2	  5.9

Total	 52 317.4	  100.0	 2 869.5	  100.0	 7 847.6	  100.0	 24 737.7	  100.0

Risk concentration by country

June 30, 2012			   Positive fair values of

		  Loans and advances 	 Loans and advances	 derivative financial

		  to banks	 to customers	 instruments	 Financial investments

		  € million	 %	 € million	 %	 € million	 %	 € million	 %

EUR	 55 790.2	  99.9	 4 236.4	  100.0	 -39 814.9	 –445.7	 21 806.1	  94.2

CAD	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 1 161.8	  13.0	  202.3	  0.9

JPY	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 3 033.6	  34.0	  255.5	  1.1

USD	  0.1	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 28 426.1	  318.2	  400.2	  1.7

AUD	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 9 071.0	  101.5	  64.8	  0.3

GBP	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 1 155.5	  12.9	  418.8	  1.8

CHF	  77.0	  0.1	  0.0	  0.0	 1 963.3	  22.0	  0.0	  0.0

Other currencies	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 3 936.9	  44.1	  0.0	  0.0

Total	 55 867.3	  100.0	 4 236.4	  100.0	 8 933.3	  100.0	 23 147.7	  100.0

Risk concentration by currency

December 31, 2011			   Positive fair values of

		  Loans and advances 	 Loans and advances	 derivative financial

		  to banks	 to customers	 instruments	 Financial investments

		  € million	 %	 € million	 %	 € million	 %	 € million	 %

EUR	 52 223.6	  99.8	 2 869.5	  100.0	 -39 307.4	 –500.9	 23 459.8	  94.8

CAD	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 1 163.5	  14.8	  184.7	  0.8

JPY	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 3 036.5	  38.7	  258.1	  1.0

USD	  0.1	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 28 270.5	  360.2	  382.6	  1.6

AUD	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 7 824.1	  99.7	  56.5	  0.2

GBP	  12.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 2 024.2	  25.8	  396.0	  1.6

CHF	  75.0	  0.2	  0.0	  0.0	 2 297.0	  29.3	  0.0	  0.0

Other currencies	  6.7	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 2 539.2	  32.4	  0.0	  0.0

Total	 52 317.4	  100.0	 2 869.5	  100.0	 7 847.6	  100.0	 24 737.7	  100.0
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Risk concentration by groups of institutions

June 30, 2012			   Positive fair values of

		  Loans and advances 	 Loans and advances	 derivative financial

		  to banks	 to customers	 instruments	 Financial investments

		  € million	 %	 € million	 %	 € million	 %	 € million	 %

Private-sector banks/ 

other banks	 8 073.7	  14.5	  0.0	  0.0	  950.7	  10.7	 1 631.6	  7.0

Foreign banks	 3 407.1	  6.1	  0.0	  0.0	 6 336.5	  70.9	 16 382.0	  70.8

Public-sector banks	 30 169.9	  54.0	  0.0	  0.0	  189.5	  2.1	 3 353.8	  14.5

Cooperative banks	 9 341.6	  16.7	  0.0	  0.0	  161.9	  1.8	  278.7	  1.2

Central banks	 4 875.0	  8.7	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0

Non-banks	  0.0	  0.0	 4 236.4	  100.0	 1 294.7	  14.5	 1 501.6	  6.5

Total	 55 867.3	  100.0	 4 236.4	  100.0	 8 933.3	  100.0	 23 147.7	  100.0

December 31, 2011			   Positive fair values of

		  Loans and advances 	 Loans and advances	 derivative financial

		  to banks	 to customers	 instruments	 Financial investments

		  € million	 %	 € million	 %	 € million	 %	 € million	 %

Private-sector banks/ 

other banks	 11 595.2	  22.2	  0.0	  0.0	  884.1	  11.3	 1 751.1	  7.1

Foreign banks	 3 983.4	  7.6	  0.0	  0.0	 5 516.7	  70.3	 17 046.4	  68.9

Public-sector banks	 27 916.4	  53.3	  0.0	  0.0	  171.1	  2.2	 4 207.6	  17.0

Cooperative banks	 8 522.4	  16.3	  0.0	  0.0	  164.5	  2.1	  272.4	  1.1

Central banks	  300.0	  0.6	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0

Non-banks	  0.0	  0.0	 2 869.5	  100.0	 1 111.2	  14.1	 1 460.2	  5.9

Total	 52 317.4	  100.0	 2 869.5	  100.0	 7 847.6	  100.0	 24 737.7	  100.0

Risk-weighted assets by rating category (in € million)

June 30, 2012	 Rating categories

			   Measurement

			   method*	 AAA	 AA	 A	 BBB	 BB-B	 CCC-C	 DDD-D	 Total

Loans and advances 

to banks

	 Special loans	 AC	  121.4	  60.1	  110.5	  37.7	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  329.7

			   FV	 8 781.2	 5 583.1	 11 150.4	 2 684.5	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 28 199.2

	 Other	 AC	 1 725.5	 2 453.6	  918.0	  116.0	  127.3	  3.6	  0.0	 5 344.0

			   FV	 5 552.1	 11 723.7	 3 427.6	  944.1	  278.0	  68.9	  0.0	 21 994.4

Loans and advances 	 AC	  386.1	  102.2	  10.9	  0.0	  0.0	  0.4	  0.0	  499.6

to customers	 FV	 3 150.9	  541.3	  13.3	  28.8	  0.0	  2.5	  0.0	 3 736.8

Positive fair values  

of derivative  

financial instruments	 FV	  0.0	 2 370.1	 6 281.1	  219.5	  60.8	  1.8	  0.0	 8 933.3

Financial	 AC	  746.6	  777.6	  546.6	  285.8	  153.3	  59.9	  0.0	 2 569.8

investments	 FV	 9 056.2	 5 626.0	 4 442.7	 1 158.3	  220.1	  74.6	  0.0	 20 577.9

Total			   29 520.0	 29 237.7	 26 901.1	 5 474.7	  839.5	  211.7	  0.0	 92 184.7

*	 Amortized cost W Measurement categories “loans and receivables” and “held to maturity” 
	 Fair Value W Hedge accounting as well as measurement categories “held for trading,”  
	 “designated as at fair value,” and “available for sale”
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Risk-weighted assets by rating category (in € million)

December 31, 2011	 Rating categories

			   Measurement

			   method*	 AAA	 AA	 A	 BBB	 BB-B	 CCC-C	 DDD-D	 Total

Loans and advances 

to banks

	 Special loans	 AC	  80.2	  6.1	  9.1	  1.6	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  97.0

			   FV	 8 373.6	 5 285.4	 10 782.8	 2 413.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 26 854.8

	 Other	 AC	  583.1	 1 861.8	  350.6	  160.6	  5.2	  0.0	  0.0	 2 961.3

			   FV	  989.6	 15 525.2	 4 236.6	 1 103.2	  476.4	  73.3	  0.0	 22 404.3

Loans and advances 	 AC	  274.0	  115.0	  1.2	  0.0	  0.0	  0.4	  0.0	  390.6

to customers	 FV	 1 873.8	  536.6	  10.5	  55.5	  0.0	  2.5	  0.0	 2 478.9

Positive fair values  

of derivative  

financial instruments	 FV	  0.0	 3 176.1	 4 467.9	  164.2	  37.8	  1.6	  0.0	 7 847.6

Financial	 AC	  651.5	  783.1	  479.0	  356.1	  205.1	  118.3	  0.0	 2 593.1

investments	 FV	 10 029.2	 7 773.3	 2 818.7	 1 040.1	  347.6	  135.7	  0.0	 22 144.6

Total			   22 855.0	 35 062.6	 23 156.4	 5 294.3	 1 072.1	  331.8	  0.0	 87 772.2

*	 Amortized cost W Measurement categories “loans and receivables” and “held to maturity” 
	 Fair Value W Hedge accounting as well as measurement categories “held for trading,”  
	 “designated as at fair value,” and “available for sale”

Comparison of the internal rating categories with the average external ratings 

of the agencies Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s, and Fitch (in € million)

June 30, 2012	 External rating category

								        without

Internal rating		   	  					     external

category	 AAA	 AA	 A	 BBB	 BB-B	 CCC-C	 DDD-D	 rating	 Total

AAA	 10 194.4	  28.4	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 19 297.2	 29 520.0

AA	 1 797.8	 13 370.9	 10 179.6	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 3 889.4	 29 237.7

A	  0.0	 3 020.8	 21 020.8	  248.9	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 2 610.6	 26 901.1

BBB	  0.0	  0.0	  797.4	 1 548.4	  74.1	  0.0	  0.0	 3 054.8	 5 474.7

BB-B	  0.0	  0.0	  91.3	  150.7	  443.5	  0.0	  0.0	  154.0	  839.5

CCC-C	  0.0	  0.0	  1.9	  3.5	  130.1	  0.0	  0.0	  76.2	  211.7

DDD-D	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0

Total	 11 992.2	 16 420.1	 32 091.0	 1 951.5	  647.7	  0.0	  0.0	 29 082.2	 92 184.7

December 31, 2011	 External rating category

								        without

Internal rating		   	  					     external

category	 AAA	 AA	 A	 BBB	 BB-B	 CCC-C	 DDD-D	 tating	 Total

AAA	 10 947.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 11 908.0	 22 855.0

AA	 1 830.3	 15 571.5	 10 274.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 7 386.8	 35 062.6

A	  0.0	 4 544.2	 15 865.8	  139.6	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 2 606.8	 23 156.4

BBB	  0.0	  0.0	  975.1	 1 495.5	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	 2 823.7	 5 294.3

BB-B	  0.0	  0.0	  35.9	  202.5	  663.7	  0.0	  0.0	  170.0	 1 072.1

CCC-C	  0.0	  0.0	  1.6	  9.8	  312.5	  5.0	  0.0	  2.9	  331.8

DDD-D	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0

Total	 12 777.3	 20 115.7	 27 152.4	 1 847.4	  976.2	  5.0	  0.0	 24 898.2	 87 772.2

(Under the previous presentation method, the rating categories were summarized in one particular grade.)
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Provisions for losses on loans and advances

If exposures are at risk of default, Rentenbank recog
nizes provisions for loan losses. In the first half of 2012 
it was not necessary to recognize specific valuation 
allowances on loans and advances. Further informa
tion on the allowance for losses on loans and advances 
as well as related changes are included in Note (7) of 
the notes to consolidated financial statements.

Standard scenarios

The basis for the measurement of potential loan losses 
under the standard scenario is the potential loss related 
to utilization, based on 1-year probabilities of default. 
As of June 30, 2012, the cumulative potential loss 
amounted to € 59.3 million (compared with € 97.0 
million in 2011). The significant decrease compared to 
the previous year is primarily attributable to redemp-
tions in the lower rating categories. The average poten
tial loss given default in the first half of 2012 amount
ed to € 72.9 million (compared with € 117.7 million in 
2011). In relation to the allocated risk cover potential 
for credit risks, the average utilization as of the re-
porting date was 28.0 % (compared with 45.3 % in 
2011). The lowest utilization amount in the period 
under review was € 59.3 million (compared with € 85.0 

million in 2011). The highest utilization amounted to 
€ 82.8 million (compared with € 161.0 million in 2011) 
and is below the limit of € 260.0 million approved for 
the standard scenario.

Stress scenarios

In a first stress scenario, the potential default is cal
culated based on a full utilization of all internally 
granted limits, using the 1-year probabilities of default. 
As of June 30, 2012, the cumulative potential default 
under this stress scenario amounted to € 82.4 million 
(compared with € 133.9 million in 2011). Under two 
additional scenarios, increases of country-specific de-
fault probabilities (at least twice as high), deterioration 
of credit quality (by at least two notches), and higher 
loss ratios for potential defaults of collateralized trans
actions were simulated. The stress scenario associated 
with the highest risk exposure is used for inclusion 
within the context of the risk-bearing capacity. As of 
the reporting date, the maximum potential default 
calculated under the mentioned stress scenarios was 
€ 267.0 million (compared with € 384.8 million in 2011). 
The decline from € 384.8 million to € 267.0 million is 
primarily attributable to redemption in the lower 
rating categories.

December 31, 2011			   Positive fair

		  Bonds and	 values of

		  promissory	 derivative	

	 Government	 note loans	 financial	 Gross-		  Net

	 bonds	 of banks	 instruments	 exposure	 Collateral	 exposure

	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million

Greece	 0.0	 18.2	 0.0	 18.2	 13.2	 5.0

Ireland	 0.0	 169.8	 0.0	 169.8	 0.0	 169.8

Italy	 323.5	 1 564.1	 0.0	 1 887.6	 604.6	 1 283.0

Portugal	 116.4	 797.0	 0.0	 913.4	 463.6	 449.8

Spain	 95.9	 3 399.6	 6.6	 3 502.1	 2 842.4	 659.7

Total	 535.8	 5 948.7	 6.6	 6 491.1	 3 923.8	 2 567.3

The carrying amounts of securities held in peripheral euro zone countries were as follows:

June 30, 2012			   Positive fair

		  Bonds and	 values of

		  promissory	 derivative	

	 Government	 note loans	 financial	 Gross-		  Net

	 bonds	 of banks	 instruments	 exposure	 Collateral	 exposure

	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million

Greece	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

Ireland	 0.0	 49.7	 0.0	 49.7	 0.0	 49.7

Italy	 340.9	 1 332.3	 0.0	 1 673.2	 644.2	 1 029.0

Portugal	 122.3	 554.8	 0.0	 677.1	 338.0	 339.1

Spain	 95.7	 2 860.2	 0.0	 2 955.9	 2 471.4	 484.5

Total	 558.9	 4 797.0	 0.0	 5 355.9	 3 453.6	 1 902.3
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Apart from stress scenarios, Rentenbank analyzes addi-
tional extreme scenarios in order to review risk concen
trations. Under the extreme scenario „default of the two 
borrower units with the largest risk exposure“, the 
potential default calculated amounted to € 1.3 billion as 
of June 30, 2012, unchanged compared to December 31, 
2011. Under the extreme scenario „default of the two 
country exposures with the largest risk exposure“ (excl. 
Germany), the potential default calculated amounted to 
€ 2.5 billion (compared with € 2.9 billion in 2011).

Market price risk

Current risk situation

Standard scenarios

The present value sensitivity for all open interest rate-
sensitive transactions related to the portfolios “money 
market business” and “promotional lending,” is cal
culated daily, assuming a parallel shift of 100 basis 
points (Bp) related to rising or falling interest rates, 
respectively. The risk exposures are compared with the 
unchanged single limits for the portfolios „money 
market business“ in the amount of € 30.0 million and 
„promotional business“ in the amount of € 31.0 million.

The average limit utilization in the first half of 2012 was 
€ 6.6 million (compared with € 5.8 million in 2011).  
This corresponded to an average utilization of 10.8 % 
(compared with 9.5 % in 2011). The maximum utiliza
tion resulted in a risk of €1 5.6 million (compared with 
€ 17.6 million in 2011), while the lowest utilization was 
€ 0.2 million (compared with € 0.1 million in 2011).  
The limits were complied with at all times in fiscal year 
2011 as well as in the first half of 2012.

Stress scenarios

In order to estimate risks arising from extreme market 
developments, we regularly calculate additional 
scenarios of interest rate changes individually for the 
portfolios “money market business” and “promotional 
lending.” Under the stress scenario, we do not assume 
a parallel shift of the interest rate curve (as in the 
standard scenario), but a non-parallel shift within the 
framework of two distinct scenarios. Correlation 
effects between the costs for the swap of cash positions 
with the same fixed-interest period between different 
currencies and own credit spreads are taken into 
account with a risk-mitigating effect.

As regards spread risks, an increase of the costs for the 

swap between two interest bases in the same currency, 
the costs for the swap of payments in various curren
cies as well as an increase of credit spreads is assumed 
under a simulation.

The potential measurement loss for the swap of flows 
of interest payments between interest bases in the same 
currency amounted to € -101.8 million (compared with 
€ -94.2 million in 2011) based on a parallel increase of 
the basis swap spreads by 15 Bp.

An increase of the CCY basis swap spread by 40 Bp is 
assumed under the scenario in relation to the costs for 
the swap of payments with the same fixed-interest 
period between different currencies. This resulted in a 
spread risk of € -421.8 million (compared with € -429.2 
million in 2011).

For credit spreads, which reflect, among other things, 
the credit ranking of a debtor (structural credit quality), 
the underlying collateral, and the market liquidity, but 
potentially also market spreads for the swap of foreign 
currency payments into euro, government bond 
spreads of the corresponding country of domicile or 
the influence of arbitrage effects, a parallel shift of 
+120 Bp for lending transactions and of +80 Bp for 
deposit-taking transactions is assumed under the stress 
scenario within the relevant rating category. The credit 
spread sensitivity so calculated was € 160.8 million 
(compared with € 77.7 million in 2011).

Value-at-risk (VaR)

The value-at-risk shows the maximum loss from mar-
ket-related developments in „money market business,“ 
assuming a holding period of ten days and a prediction 
accuracy of 99 %. As of the reporting date, it amounted 
to € 0.5 million (compared with € 2.6 million in 2011).

Liquidity risk

Current risk situation

Rentenbank’s triple A ratings along with its short-term 
refinancing options on the money and capital markets 
indicate that in efficient markets, the liquidity risk is 
manageable in the event that principal and interest pay-
ments are not made when due. If a market disruption 
occurs, liquidity may be raised in the amount of the 
freely available refinancing potential which has always 
exceeded the Bank’s liquidity requirements in a period 
of up to two years.

The limit for medium- and long-term liquidity was not 
exceeded in fiscal 2011 and half-year 2012.



28

Outlook

The increase of the operating results is expected to 
continue in the second half at a more moderate pace. 
The Board of Managing Directors expects that the 
Group‘s result for the current fiscal year will reach  
the prior-year level. Based on current projections, the 
Group will reach the results set out in the annual  
operating plan.

Market parameters continue to be volatile and it is 
therefore not really possible to forecast future mea
surement results. We are similarly unable to reliably 
predict the consolidated net income for the year, since 
the measurement result may have a considerable im-
pact on that figure.

Report on events 
after the balance sheet date

No events of material importance occurred after the 
end of the reporting period.

Stress scenarios

Rentenbank also performs scenario analyses in which 
the liquidity requirement resulting from all scenarios 
is added to cash flows that are already known in order 
to examine the effects on the solvency of the Bank.  
As in the prior year, the results of the scenario analyses 
demonstrate that as of the balance sheet date, the 
Group will be able to meet its payment obligations  
at all times without restrictions.

Operational risk

Current risk situation

The utilization of operational risk in standard scenarios 
amounted to € 31.5 million as of the reporting date 
(compared with € 30.9 million in 2011). Under the stress 
scenario, the risk exposure determined amounted to 
€ 63.1 million (compared with € 61.8 million in 2011).

In the first half of 2012, two significant incidents (gross 
loss of more than € 5 thousand) were entered into the 
incident reporting database. The expected net loss of 
these incidents was € 4 thousand. In the prior year, 
there were four significant single losses from operatio-
nal risks with a net loss of € 284 thousand.
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Interim consolidated financial statements (IFRS)  
for the period ended June 30, 2012

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the period from January 1 to June 30, 2012

			   Jan. 1 to	 Jan. 1 to

			   Jun. 30, 2012	 Jun. 30, 2011

1) Income statement	 Notes	 € million	 € million

Interest income		  1 988.5	 1 906.6

Interest expense		  1 798.8	 1 732.0

Net interest income	 1	  189.7	  174.6

Provision for loan losses/promotional contribution	 2,7	  13.0	  8.7

	 thereof recognition for special loan programs		   39.0	  32.0

	 thereof amortization for special loan programs		   25.9	  23.4

Net interest income after provision for loan losses/

promotional contribution		   176.7	  165.9

Fee and commission income		   0.1	  0.2

Fee and commission expenses		   1.1	  1.0

Net fee and commission income		  –1.0	 –0.8

Net result from financial investments		   3.1	  0.0

Administrative expenses	 3	  24.2	  23.4

Net other operating result		   2.2	  2.4

Result from fair value measurement and from hedge accounting	 4	  33.9	  9.2

Net result from taxes		   0.0	 –0.1

Group‘s interim net income		   190.7	  153.2

2) Other comprehensive income

Change in revaluation reserve		   277.7	  25.2

3) Group’s total comprehensive income		   468.4	  178.4



30

Consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2012

		  Jun. 30, 2012	 Dec. 31, 2011

Assets	 Notes	 € million	 € million

Cash and balances with central banks		   6.1	  778.6

Loans and advances to banks	 5,7	 53 492.2	 51 383.0

	 thereof promotional contribution		  –277.7	 –270.7

Loans and advances to customers	 6,7	 4 218.6	 2 853.9

	 thereof promotional contribution		  –0.1	 –0.1

Fair value changes of hedged items in a portfolio hedge	 8	  950.1	  772.5

Positive fair values of derivative financial instruments	 9	 8 933.3	 7 847.6

Financial investments	 10	 23 147.7	 24 737.7

Investment property		   16.3	  16.3

Property and equipment		   22.3	  22.4

Intangible assets	 11	  9.0	  5.7

Current income tax assets		   2.5	  2.0

Deferred tax assets		   0.5	  0.5

Other assets		   721.8	  456.9

Total assets		  91 520.4	 88 877.1

			   Jun. 30, 2012	 Dec. 31, 2011

Liabilities and equity	 Notes	 € million	 € million

Liabilities to banks	 12	 2 591.0	 3 107.5

Liabilities to customers	 13	 5 926.5	 6 147.6

Securitised Liabilities	 14	 69 160.8	 68 161.8

Negative fair values of derivative financial instruments	 15	 4 750.5	 4 262.5

Provisions	 16	  103.2	  104.2

Subordinated Liabilities	 17	  923.7	  912.4

Deferred tax liabilities		   0.1	  0.1

Other liabilities		  5 902.8	 4 475.3

Equity		  2 161.8	 1 705.7

	 Subscribed capital		   135.0	  135.0

	 Retained earnings		  2 321.8	 2 321.8

	 Revaluation reserve		  –485.7	 –763.4

	 Group‘s (interim) net profit		   190.7	  12.3

Total liabilities and equity		  91 520.4	 88 877.1
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Changes in equity for the period from January 1 to June 30, 2012

						      Total,

			   Reva-	 Group’s	 Group’s	 Jan. 1 to

	 Subscribed	 Retained	 luation	 net	 interim net	 Jun. 30, 

€ million	 capital	 earnings	 reserve	 profit	 profit	 2012
Equity as of Jan. 1, 2012	  135.0	 2 321.8	 –763.4	  12.3	  0.0	 1 705.7

Group’s interim net profit					      190.7	  190.7

Change in unrealized 

gains and losses			    277.7			    277.7

Group’s total  

comprehensive income	  0.0	  0.0	  277.7	  0.0	  190.7	  468.4

Appropriation of net profit				    –12.3		  –12.3

Equity as of Jun. 30, 2012	  135.0	 2 321.8	 –485.7	  0.0	  190.7	 2 161.8

Changes in equity for the period from January 1 to June 30, 2011

						      Total,

			   Reva-	 Group’s	 Group’s	 Jan. 1 to

	 Subscribed	 Retained	 luation	 net	 interim net	 Jun. 30, 

€ million	 capital	 earnings	 reserve	 profit	 profit	 2011
Equity as of Jan. 1, 2011	 135.0	 2 403.4	 –403.6	 11.8	 0.0	 2 146.6

Group’s interim net profit					     153.2	 153.2

Change in unrealized 

gains and losses			   25.2			   25.2

Group’s total  

comprehensive income	 0.0	 0.0	 25.2	 0.0	 153.2	 178.4

Appropriation of net profit				    –11.8		  –11.8

Equity as of Jun. 30, 2011	 135.0	 2 403.4	 –378.4	 0.0	 153.2	 2 313.2
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The consolidated cash flow statement shows the chan-
ges in cash and cash equivalents for the period from 
January 1 to June 30 for the fiscal years 2012 and 2011 
from operating, investing and financing activities by 
means of a comparison. Cash and cash equivalents 
correspond to the balance sheet item “cash and bal
ances with central banks.”

The reported cash flows from operating activities were 
determined using the indirect method. In this method, 
the net income for the period is adjusted for non-cash 
items and for payments and receipts arising from 
investing and financing activities. The adjusted Group 
net income for the period is further adjusted for chan-

ges in assets and liabilities. Interest paid and received 
together with dividends are classified under cash 
flows from operating activities. The cash flows from 
investing and financing activities were determined 
using the direct method.

The Group’s liquidity management focuses on Renten-
bank. The consolidated cash flow statement, which 
was prepared in accordance with the requirement set 
out in IAS 7, is only of limited informative value as  
an indicator of the liquidity position. In this respect, 
please refer to the comments in the Management 
Report for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 
regarding the Group‘s liquidity management.

Condensed consolidated cash flow statement

		  Jan. 1 to	 Jan. 1 to

		  Jun. 30, 2012	 Jun. 30, 2011 

		  € million	 € million
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	 779	 54

Cash flow from operating activities	 –2 828	 –1 179

Cash flow from investing activities	 2 067	 1 186

Cash flow from financing activities	 –12	 –47

Effect of exchange rate differences	 0	 0

Cash and cash equivalent at end of period	 6	 14
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Basis of accounting

The present condensed interim consolidated financial 
statements of Rentenbank have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), pursuant to Section 37y of the Ger-
man Securities Trading Act (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz, 
WpHG) in conjunction with Section 37w of the Securi-
ties Trading Act. The standards which are required to 
be applied to the consolidated financial statements for 
fiscal year 2012 and which have been published and 
adopted by the European Union as of the reporting 
date for these interim financial statements, as well as 
the interpretations issued by the International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) and the 
Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC) are relevant 
for these interim financial statements. The amendments 
to IFRS 7 required to be applied for fiscal year 2012 do 
not have an impact on the present interim consolidated 
financial statements. For further information, please 
refer to the notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments for the year ended December 31, 2011.

Based on the recommendations issued by the EFRAG 
(European Financial Reporting Advisory Group) and 
the ARC (Accounting Regulatory Committee), the 
European Commission has issued a draft regulation to 
adopt IFRS 13. After expiry of the objection period for 

the European Parliament and the Council, the standard 
will be adopted by the European Union in the second 
half of 2012. 

In accordance with IAS 34, the interim consolidated 
financial statements have to be prepared using the 
same accounting policies as are applied to the consoli-
dated financial statements for the same fiscal year.  
In order to meet this requirement and to ensure consis-
tency in the current fiscal year 2012, IFRS 13 is applied 
in the present interim consolidated financial state-
ments.

Pursuant to the transitional provisions, the provisions 
of IFRS 13 will be applied prospectively as from fiscal 
year 2012. IFRS 13 provides a definition of fair value, 
summarizes the rules for the determination of fair 
value within one single standard and requires dis
closures to be made about fair value measurements. 
The application of IFRS 13 primarily affects the use of 
quoted market prices. It is no longer mandatory to use 
the ask price for financial liabilities and the bid price 
for financial assets. Instead, a price from within the 
bid-ask spread has to be selected that is most represen-
tative of fair value.

The required information on credit, liquidity, and 
market price risks resulting from financial instruments 
in accordance with IFRS 7.31–42 are generally present
ed in the Risk Report, which is an integral part of the 
interim group management report.

In accordance with IAS 34, the condensed interim con-
solidated financial statements consist of the consoli
dated statement of comprehensive income, the con
solidated balance sheet, the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity, the condensed consolidated cash 
flow statement, and selected disclosures in the notes. 
In addition, an interim group management report 
pursuant to Section 37w of the Securities Trading Act 
is prepared.

The application of IFRS 13 affects the following items of the interim consolidated financial statements:
			   thereof amount

		  Presentation	 of adjustment

		  as of	 as of

		  Jun. 30, 2012	 Jun. 30, 2012

 		  € million	 € million

Consolidated balance sheet:

	 Financial investments	 23 147.7	  61.7

	 Securitised Liabilities	 69 160.8	 –61.9

	 Equity

		  Revaluation reserve	 –485.7	  50.8

		  Group‘s interim net profit	  190.7	  72.8

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income:

	 1)	Income Statement

		  Result from fair value measurement and from hedge accounting	  33.9	  72.8

	 2)	Other comprehensive income

		  Change in revaluation reserve	  277.7	  50.8
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No write-downs on loans and advances or specific 
valuation allowances were necessary in the first half  
of 2012. 

The item “provision for loan losses/promotional con-
tribution” primarily includes the discounting of future 
expenses for special loans (additions to promotional 
contribution) as well as their amortization over the 
remaining term (amortization of promotional con
tribution). 

Notes to selected items of the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income

(1)  Net interest income

	 Jan. 1 to	 Jan. 1 to

	 Jun. 30, 2012	 Jun. 30, 2011	 Change in

 	 € million	 € million	 € million

Interest income from

Loans and advances to banks and customers	  730.2	  684.4	  45.8

Derivative financial instruments	  879.4	  844.2	  35.2

Financial investments	  376.3	  372.3	  4.0

Other	  0.3	  0.6	 –0.3

Current income from			 

Shares and other non-fixed-income securities	  0.0	  0.0	  0.0

Equity investments	  2.3	  5.1	 –2.8

Total interest income	 1 988.5	 1 906.6	  81.9

Interest expenses for

Liabilities to banks and customers	  152.5	  151.5	  1.0

Securitized liabilities	 1 062.3	 1 008.4	  53.9

Derivative financial instruments	  566.1	  555.1	  11.0

Subordinated liabilities	  12.4	  11.2	  1.2

Other	  5.5	  5.8	 –0.3

Total interest expenses	 1 798.8	 1 732.0	  66.8

Net interest income	  189.7	  174.6	  15.1

(2)  Provision for loan losses/promotional contribution

 	 Jan. 1 to	 Jan. 1 to

	 Jun. 30, 2012	 Jun. 30, 2011	 Change in

 	 € million	 € million	 € million

Expenses for additions to promotional contribution	 39.0	 32.0	 7.0

Income from the amortization of promotional contribution	 25.9	 23.4	 2.5

Addition to portfolio-based valuation allowances	 0.0	 0.1	 –0.1

Recoveries on loans and advances 
previously written off	 0.1	 0.0	 0.1

Risikovorsorge	 13.0	 8.7	 4.3

The presentation of pension provisions and the disclo-
sure of the actual pension obligations are based upon 
the actuarial opinion as of December 31, 2011.

With the exception of the above mentioned application 
of IFRS 13, the condensed interim consolidated finan-
cial statements are based upon the same accounting 
policies and consolidation principles as those used for 
the consolidated financial statements as of December 
31, 2011, in which the accounting policies and conso
lidation principles are described in detail.

Accounting policies
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(3)  Administrative expenses

	 Jan. 1 to	 Jan. 1 to

	 Jun. 30, 2012	 Jun. 30, 2011	 Change in

 	 € million	 € million	 € million

Other administrative expenses for

Personnel	 15.5	 14.8	 0.7

IT licenses, fees, consulting services	 3.0	 2.2	 0.8

Public relations	 1.1	 1.0	 0.1

Refinancing	 1.1	 0.7	 0.4

Audit, contributions, donations	 1.0	 0.8	 0.2

Occupancy costs	 0.5	 0.5	 0.0

Maintenance of software	 0.5	 0.5	 0.0

Miscellaneous	 0.6	 0.9	 –0.3

Total other administrative expenses	 23.3	 21.4	 1.9

Depreciation and amortization of

Intangible assets	 0.3	 1.3	 –1.0

	 thereof internally generated software 	 0.1	 1.2	 –1.1

Residential and office buildings	 0.3	 0.3	 0.0

IT equipment	 0.1	 0.2	 –0.1

Office equipment and vehicles	 0.1	 0.1	 0.0

Technical and other equipment	 0.1	 0.1	 0.0

Total depreciation and amortization	 0.9	 2.0	 –1.1

Total administrative expenses	 24.2	 23.4	 0.8

curve. After the reversal of hedging relationships in 
the balance sheet in the case of ineffectiveness, the 
previously recorded fair value changes of the hedged 
items attributable to interest rate changes are amortiz
ed over the remaining term. 

Income and expenses from the amortization of, among 
other things, premiums/discounts, upfront payments 
and promotional contributions, which represent part 
of the changes in the fair value, are recognized in net 
interest income due to their interest rate nature. 

Derivatives and financial instruments of the categories 
„financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss“ are measured at fair value. Changes in the fair 
value are recorded as unrealized gains or losses in the 
result from fair value measurement and from hedge 
accounting. 

The result from fair value measurement and from 
hedge accounting also includes the changes in the fair 
value of hedged items in effective hedging relation-
ships attributable to changes in the deposit/swap 

(4)  Result from fair value measurement and from hedge accounting

	 Jan. 1 to	 Jan. 1 to

	 Jun. 30, 2012	 Jun. 30, 2011	 Change in

 	 € million	 € million	 € million

Fair value measurement	 146.9	 20.4	 126.5

Micro hedge accounting	 –4.3	 –6.3	 2.0

Macro hedge accounting	 –108.7	 –4.9	 –103.8

Result from fair value measurement  

and from hedge accounting	 33.9	 9.2	 24.7
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Segment reporting

There have been no changes with regard to the de
finition of the segments and the allocation of results  
as well as assets and liabilities to the individual 

segments compared to the 2011 consolidated financial 
statements.

	 Treasury	 Promotional	 Capital

	 Management 	 Business	 Investment	 Total

from Jan. 1	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011 

to Jun. 30	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million

Net interest income	 35.3	 28.2	 97.3	 93.1	 57.1	 53.3	 189.7	 174.6

Provision for loan losses/ 

promotional contribution	 0.0	 0.0	 13.0	 8.7	 0.0	 0.0	 13.0	 8.7

Net fee  

and commission income	 0.0	 0.1	 –1.0	 –0.9	 0.0	 0.0	 –1.0	 –0.8

Net result from 

financial investments	 0.0	 0.0	 3.1	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 3.1	 0.0

Other  

administrative expenses	 2.4	 2.3	 17.6	 16.0	 3.3	 3.1	 23.3	 21.4

Depreciation and amortization	 0.1	 0.2	 0.7	 1.5	 0.1	 0.3	 0.9	 2.0

Net other operating result	 0.0	 0.0	 2.2	 2.4	 0.0	 0.0	 2.2	 2.4

Result from fair value  

measurement and  

from hedge accounting	 –1.4	 –8.0	 35.3	 17.2	 0.0	 0.0	 33.9	 9.2

Net result from taxes	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 –0.1	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 –0.1

Group‘s interim net income	 31.4	 17.8	 105.6	 85.5	 53.7	 49.9	 190.7	 153.2

 

		  Jun. 30,	 Dec. 31,	 Jun. 30,	 Dec. 31,	 Jun. 30,	 Dec. 31,	 Jun. 30,	 Dec. 31, 

		  2012	 2011	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011 

		  € billion	 € billion	 € billion	 € billion	 € billion	 € billion	 € billion	 € billion

Segment assets	 12.9	 13.1	 75.5	 72.8	 3.1	 3.0	 91.5	 88.9

Segment liabilities  

(incl. equity)	 11.4	 13.0	 77.0	 72.9	 3.1	 3.0	 91.5	 88.9
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(8)  �Fair value changes of hedged items  

in a portfolio hedge

The balance sheet item “fair value changes of hedged 
items in a portfolio hedge” includes the fair value chan-
ges attributable to interest rate changes in the amount 
of € 950.1 million (compared with € 772.5 million in 

2011) related to loans allocated to macro hedge account
ing. For further information, please refer to Note (7) in 
the notes to the consolidated financial statements for 
the year ended December 31, 2011.

Notes to selected balance sheet items

(5)  Loans and advances to banks

 		  Jun. 30, 2012	 Dec. 31, 2011	 Change in

 		  € million	 € million	 € million

Repayable on demand	 5 787.6	  10.2	 5 777.4

Time deposits	 3 342.8	 7 618.2	 –4 275.4

Promissory note loans/registered bonds	 16 252.0	 16 616.5	 –364.5

Special loans	 27 596.6	 26 194.9	 1 401.7

	 thereof promotional contribution	 –277.7	 –270.7	 –7.0

Open market operations	  0.0	  300.0	 –300.0

Global refinancing facility	  384.8	  407.0	 –22.2

Other	  128.4	  236.2	 –107.8

Total	 53 492.2	 51 383.0	 2 109.2

(6)  Loans and advances to customers

(7)  Provision for loan losses/promotional contribution

 		  Jun. 30, 2012	 Dec. 31, 2011	 Change in

 		  € million	 € million	 € million

Repayable on demand	  0.1	  0.1	  0.0

Medium and long-term loans	  0.7	  1.2	 -0.5

Promissory note loans	 3 763.2	 2 391.0	 1 372.2

Special loans	  452.5	  459.6	 –7.1

	 thereof promotional contribution	 –0.1	 –0.1	  0.0

Other	  2.1	  2.0	  0.1

Total	 4 218.6	 2 853.9	 1 364.7

	 Promotional	 Specific	 Portfolio

	 contribution 	 valuation	 valuation	 Total

		  2012	 2011	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011 

		  € million	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million

As of Jan. 1	 287.3	 267.4	 0.1	 0.0	 0.0	 3.8	 287.4	 271.2

Addition	 39.0	 68.5	 0.0	 0.1	 0.0	 0.0	 39.0	 68.6

Utilization	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

Reversals	 25.9	 48.6	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 3.8	 25.9	 52.4

As of Jun. 30/ 

Dec. 31	 300.4	 287.3	 0.1	 0.1	 0.0	 0.0	 300.5	 287.4

	 thereof

Loans and advances  

to banks	 277.7	 270.7	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 277.7	 270.7

Loans and advances  

to customers	 0.1	 0.1	 0.1	 0.1	 0.0	 0.0	 0.2	 0.2

Loan commitments	 22.6	 16.5	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 22.6	 16.5

Total	 300.4	 287.3	 0.1	 0.1	 0.0	 0.0	 300.5	 287.4
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(9)  Positive fair values of derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are classified as follows according to economic hedging relationships:

 		  Jun. 30, 2012	 Dec. 31, 2011	 Change in

 		  € million	 € million	 € million

Hedge accounting	 1 134.2	 1 005.7	  128.5

Instruments designated as at fair value	 7 750.7	 6 788.8	  961.9

Other items	  48.4	  53.1	 –4.7

Total		 8 933.3	 7 847.6	 1 085.7

(10)  Financial investments

 		  Jun. 30, 2012	 Dec. 31, 2011	 Change in

 		  € million	 € million	 € million

Bonds and other fixed-income securities

	 Money market securities

		  of other issuers	  0.0	  40.1	 –40.1

	 Bonds

		  of public-sector issuers	 1 450.4	 1 403.0	  47.4

		  of other issuers	 21 578.3	 23 175.6	 –1 597.3

Equity investments	  118.8	  118.8	  0.0

Other financial investments	  0.2	  0.2	  0.0

Total		 23 147.7	 24 737.7	 –1 590.0

Bonds and other fixed-income securities can be classified as „eligible as collateral“  
or „not eligible as collateral“:
 			   Jun. 30, 2012	 Jun. 30, 2012	 Dec. 31, 2011	 Dec. 31, 2011

 			   € million	 € million	 € million	 € million

			   eligible as	  not eligible as	 eligible as	  not eligible as

			   collateral	 collateral	 collateral	 collateral

Bonds and other fixed-income securities

	 Money market securities				  

		  of other issuers	  0.0	  0.0	  40.1	  0.0

	 Bonds				  

		  of public-sector issuers	 1 253.9	  196.5	 1 213.1	  189.9

		  of other issuers	 19 792.3	 1 786.0	 21 279.8	 1 895.8

Total		 21 046.2	 1 982.5	 22 533.0	 2 085.7

Derivatives used to hedge other items mainly result 
from hedging relationships that are ineffective in 

accordance with hedge accounting criteria as of the 
balance sheet date.
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(12)  Liabilities to banks

 	 Jun. 30, 2012	 Dec. 31, 2011	 Change in

 	 € million	 € million	 € million

Repayable on demand	  23.0	  437.7	 –414.7

Time deposits	  0.0	  110.0	 –110.0

Registered bonds and promissory note loans	 1 314.8	 1 336.2	 –21.4

Global loans	 1 253.2	 1 223.6	 29.6

Total	 2 591.0	 3 107.5	 –516.5

(13)  Liabilities to customers

 	 Jun. 30, 2012	 Dec. 31, 2011	 Change in

 	 € million	 € million	 € million

Repayable on demand	  70.7	  416.7	 –346.0

Time deposits	  36.7	  24.8	 11.9

Registered bonds and promissory note loans	 5 714.9	 5 601.7	 113.2

Loan agreements	  49.4	  52.2	 –2.8

Other	  54.8	  52.2	 2.6

Total	 5 926.5	 6 147.6	 –221.1

(14)  Securitized liabilities

 	 Jun. 30, 2012	 Dec. 31, 2011	 Change in

 	 € million	 € million	 € million

Medium-term notes	 50 045.8	 47 261.4	 2 784.4

Global bonds	 13 854.4	 13 500.4	  354.0

Euro commercial papers	 5 198.9	 7 351.1	 –2 152.2

Bearer Bonds	  60.7	  47.9	  12.8

Rentenbank bonds	  1.0	  1.0	  0.0

Total	 69 160.8	 68 161.8	  999.0

(11)  Intangible assets

Intangible assets changed as follows:

			   Acquired	 Internally generated 

			   software	 software 	 Total

			   2012	 2011	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011

 			   € million	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million

Cost as of Jan. 1	 7.4	 1.7	 10.4	 11.7	 17.8	 13.4

Additions	 3.5	 5.8	 0.1	 0.8	 3.6	 6.6

Disposals	 0.7	 0.1	 0.1	 2.1	 0.8	 2.2

Accumulated amortization	 1.6	 2.2	 10.0	 9.9	 11.6	 12.1

Amortization	 0.2	 0.9	 0.1	 2.5	 0.3	 3.4

Carrying amount as of Jun. 30/ 

Dec. 31	 8.6	 5.2	 0.4	 0.5	 9.0	 5.7
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The difference between the present value of pension 
obligations of € 91.8 million (compared with € 91.3 
million in 2011) and the provision of € 91.3 million 
reported in the balance sheet (compared with € 90.8 
million in 2011) results from the application of the 
corridor approach set out in IAS 19.92 et seq. Pursuant 
to this approach, gains and losses resulting from chan-
ges in measurement bases and parameters (so-called 
actuarial gains/losses) are recognized pro rata tem

poris only when such gains or losses exceed 10 % of 
the actual pension obligation. Actuarial gains or losses 
within the 10 % corridor are not taken into account. 
Unrecognized actuarial gains as of June 30, 2012, 
amounted to € 0.5 million (compared with € 0.5 milli-
on in 2011).

The additions to pension provisions are reported in 
full under administrative expenses.

(16)  Provisions

	 Dec. 31, 2011	 Utilization	 Reversals	 Additions	 Jun. 30, 2012

	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million

Pension provisions	 90.8	 2.8	 0.0	 3.3	 91.3

Other provisions	 13.4	 0.7	 1.4	 0.6	 11.9

Total	 104.2	 3.5	 1.4	 3.9	 103.2

a)  Provisions for pensions and similar obligations

The changes in pension provisions and the amounts recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income are shown in the following table:
	 Jan. 1 to	 Jan. 1 to

 	 Jun. 30, 2012	 Dec. 31, 2011	 Change in

 	 € million	 € million	 € million
Present value of pension obligations as of Jan. 1	 91.3	 90.0	 1.3

Less unrecognized actuarial gains (–)/losses (+)	 0.5	 0.0	 0.5

Balance of provisions as of Jan. 1	 90.8	 90.0	 0.8

Current service cost	 0.8	 1.7	 –0.9

Interest cost	 2.5	 4.7	 –2.2

Additions to pension provisions	 3.3	 6.4	 –3.1

Pension benefits paid	 –2.8	 –5.6	 2.8

Reversals	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

Balance of provisions as of Jun. 30/Dec. 31	 91.3	 90.8	 0.5

Plus unrecognized actuarial gains (-)/losses (+)	 0.5	 0.5	 0.0

Present value of pension obligations 

as of Jun. 30 (estimated)/Dec. 31	 91.8	 91.3	 0.5

(15)  Negative fair values of derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are classified as follows according to economic hedging relationships:

 	 Jun. 30, 2012	 Dec. 31, 2011	 Change in

 	 € million	 € million	 € million

Hedge accounting	 3 485.2	 2 998.4	 486.8

Instruments designated as at fair value	 729.7	 930.1	 –200.4

Other items	 535.6	 334.0	 201.6

Total	 4 750.5	 4 262.5	 488.0

Derivatives used to hedge other items mainly result 
from hedging relationships that are ineffective in 

accordance with hedge accounting criteria as of the 
balance sheet date.
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Contingent liabilities only consist of default guaran-
tees for loans subject to interest subsidies. Rentenbank 

has back-to-back guarantees granted by the govern-
ment that fully collateralize the default guarantees. 

(17)  Subordinated liabilities

 	 Jun. 30, 2012	 Dec. 31, 2011	 Change in

 	 € million	 € million	 € million

Medium-term notes	 697.3	 677.2	 20.1

Loan agreements	 161.9	 171.2	 –9.3

Promissory note loans	 64.5	 64.0	 0.5

Total	 923.7	 912.4	 11.3

(18)  Contingent liabilities and other commitments

 	 Jun. 30, 2012	 Dec. 31, 2011	 Change in

 	 € million	 € million	 € million

Contingent liabilities

	 Liabilities from guarantees and  

	 indemnity agreements	 3.0	 3.1	 –0.1

Other commitments			 

	 Irrevocable loan commitments	 1 442.8	  177.5	 1 265.3

Total	 1 445.8	  180.6	 1 265.2

b)  Other provisions  

 	 Jun. 30, 2012	 Dec. 31, 2011	 Change in

 	 € million	 € million	 € million

Administration of former equity investments	 9.3	 9.6	 –0.3

Other provisions	 2.6	 3.8	 –1.2

Total	 11.9	 13.4	 –1.5
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The “hedge fair value” column for the category “loans 
and receivables” includes, with respect to loans and 
advances to banks and to customers, the corresponding 
portions from the item “fair value changes of hedged 
items in a portfolio hedge” in the amount of € 950.1 
million. Securities of the „available for sale“ category 

and derivatives that are allocated to hedge accounting 
and whose fair value changes are recognized in  
the result from hedge accounting are included in the 
“hedge fair value” column, irrespective of their 
measurement at full fair value.

(19)  Financial instruments by measurement categories

			   Full Fair Value	 Hedge Fair Value	 Amortized cost

			   Jun. 30,	 Dec. 31,	 Jun. 30,	 Dec. 31,	 Jun. 30,	 Dec. 31,

			   2012	 2011	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011

			   € million	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million

Assets

	 Held for Trading						    

		  Positive fair values  

		  of derivative  

		  financial instruments	 7 799.1	 6 841.9	 1 134.2	 1 005.7		

	 Designated as at Fair Value						    

		  Loans and advances to banks	 17 609.3	 18 030.9				  

		  Loans and advances  

		  to customers	  355.8	  356.0				  

		  Financial investments	 6 315.4	 8 212.5				  

	 Loans and Receivables						    

		  Balances with central banks					      5.9	  778.4

		  Loans and advances to banks			   32 564.3	 31 228.2	 4 250.9	 2 880.8

		  Loans and advances  

		  to customers			   3 381.0	 2 122.9	  499.6	  390.6

		  Other assets					      717.9	  454.3

	 Available for Sale						    

		  Financial investments	 1 758.9	 1 571.6	 12 503.6	 12 360.5	  118.8	  118.8

	 Held to Maturity						    

		  Financial investments					     2 451.0	 2 474.3

Total assets	 33 838.5	 35 012.9	 49 583.1	 46 717.3	 8 044.1	 7 097.2

Liabilities

	 Held for Trading

		  Negative fair values  

		  of derivative  

		  financial instruments	 1 265.3	 1 264.1	 3 485.2	 2 998.4

	 Designated as at Fair Value

		  Liabilities to banks	 1 297.5	 1 778.7

		  Liabilities to customers	 1 453.6	 1 584.5

		  Securitized liabilities	 51 074.8	 52 791.3

		  Subordinated liabilities	  859.2	  848.4

	 Other Liabilities

		  Liabilities to banks			    495.3	  788.2	  798.2	  540.6

		  Liabilities to customers			   2 599.1	 2 706.0	 1 873.8	 1 857.1

		  Securitized liabilities			   11 413.1	 10 278.3	 6 672.9	 5 092.2

		  Subordinated liabilities			    64.5	  64.0	  0.0	  0.0

		  Other liabilities					     5 847.4	 4 422.9

Total liabilities	 55 950.4	 58 267.0	 18 057.2	 16 834.9	 15 192.3	 11 912.8

Other disclosures
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(20)   Derivatives

			   Notional amounts	 Fair values positive	 Fair values negative	

			   Jun. 30,	 Dec. 31,	 Jun. 30,	 Dec. 31,	 Jun. 30,	 Dec. 31,

			   2012	 2011	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011

 			   € million	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million

Interest rate risks	 90 071	 85 643	 2 507	 2 363	 4 138	 3 483

Currency risks	 52 155	 54 123	 6 425	 5 484	  613	  780

Share price risk and other price risks	  45	  45	  1	  1	  0	  0

Gesamt	 142 271	 139 811	 8 933	 7 848	 4 751	 4 263

			   Notional amounts	 Fair values positive	 Fair values negative	

			   Jun. 30,	 Dec. 31,	 Jun. 30,	 Dec. 31,	 Jun. 30,	 Dec. 31,

			   2012	 2011	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011

 			   € million	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million	 € million

Banks in the EU/OECD countries	 129 725	 127 976	 7 639	 6 737	 4 528	 4 093

Other counterparties  

in the EU/OECD countries	 12 546	 11 835	 1 294	 1 111	  223	  170

Gesamt	 142 271	 139 811	 8 933	 7 848	 4 751	 4 263

Group‘s own funds was made in accordance with Sec-
tion 64h (4) KWG using the aggregation method, on 
the basis of the separate HGB financial statements of 
the Group companies. Under the aggregation method, 
total capital of the companies included in the consoli-
dated financial statements are not consolidated, but 
aggregated, while the carrying amounts of the equity 
investments are deducted. The total capital comprises 
liable capital – consisting of core capital (Tier 1) and 
supplementary capital (Tier 2).

(21)  Regulatory capital

In accordance with IAS 1.135, disclosures have to be 
made on regulatory capital in the consolidated finan
cial statements.

The Group’s regulatory capital was determined pur
suant to the provisions of Sections 10 and 10a of the 
German Banking Act (Kreditwesengesetz, KWG). 
Pursuant to the option set out in Section 10a (7), we 
did not use the IFRS consolidated financial statements 
as the basis. The calculation of the amount of the 

The composition of the Group’s consolidated total capital as of June 30, 2012 on the basis of the HGB  
values is shown in the following table:
 	 Jun. 30, 2012	 Dec. 31, 2011	 Change in

 	 € million	 € million	 € million

Analysis of regulatory capital

Subscribed capital	  176	  176	  0

Disclosed reserves	  881	  842	  39

Fund for general banking risks	 1 884	 1 304	  580

Intangible assets	 –8	 –6	 –2

Loss carryforward	 –12	 –12	 0

Tier 1 capital	 2 921	 2 304	  617

Subordinated liabilities	  825	  823	  2

Other components	  79	  406	 –327

Tier 2 capital	  904	 1 229	 –325

Liable capital	 3 825	 3 533	  292

Tier 3 capital	 0	 0	 0

	 thereof Tier 3 capital utilized	 0	 0	 0

Total regulatory capital	 3 825	 3 533	  292
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The following ratios apply at Group level as of the reporting date:

		  Jun. 30, 2012	 Dec. 31, 2011

 		  %	 %

Tier 1 ratio pursuant to SolvV		  21.8	 17.2

Total capital ratio pursuant to SolvV		  28.5	 26.4

Rentenbank’s ratios differ only marginally from the 
Group’s ratios. Rentenbank fulfilled the regulatory  

capital requirements at all times in the period under 
review.

In accordance with the German Solvency Regulation 
(Solvabilitätsverordnung, SolvV), the core capital  
ratio (core capital/risk-weighted assets) may not be 
less than 4 % and the capital ratio (liable capital/risk-

weighted assets) as well as the total capital ratio 
(eligible own funds/total of risk-weighted assets and 
12.5-times the capital charge for market risk positions) 
may not be less than 8 %.
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report includes a fair review of the development and 
performance of the business and the position of the 
group, together with a description of the principal  
opportunities and risks associated with the expected 
development of the group.

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with 
the applicable reporting principles, the interim consoli
dated financial statements give a true and fair view of 
the assets, liabilities, financial position, and profit or 
loss of the group, and the interim group management 

Statement of Management Responsibility

Frankfurt am Main, August 27, 2012

LANDWIRTSCHAFTLICHE  RENTENBANK

Board of Managing Directors

 Hans Bernhardt                            Dr. Horst Reinhardt

The Declaration of Compliance with the German Public Corporate Governance Code is available to the public on 
Rentenbank‘s website under www.rentenbank.de. 

The condensed interim consolidated financial statements and the interim group management report have been 
neither reviewed nor audited pursuant to Section 317 of the German Commercial Code.



47

Forward-Looking Statements 

This half-yearly financial report contains forward-looking statements that are based on current expectations, estimates,  

forecasts and projections of Rentenbank’s management and currently available information. Such statements include, in 

particular, statements about our plans, strategies and prospects. Words such as “expects”, “anticipates”, “intends”, 

“plans”, “believes”, “seeks”, “estimates”, variations of such words and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-

looking statements. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve risks, uncertainties and  

assumptions that are difficult to predict. Therefore, actual outcomes and results may differ materially from what is expressed 

or forecasted in these forward-looking statements. Except as required by law, Rentenbank does not have any intention or  

obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements after they are made, whether as a result of new information, 

future events or otherwise. 
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